Aus dem Deutschen Diabetes-Zentrum Leibniz-Zentrum für Diabetes-Forschung an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Institut für Biometrie und Epidemiologie Direktor: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Oliver Kuß

The role of dietary sugar intake in the development and management of diabetes mellitus – mediation and substitution analyses of observational studies

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors in Public Health der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

> vorgelegt von Alexander Lang (2024)

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

gez.:

Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. Nikolaj Klöcker Erstgutachterin: PD Dr. oec. troph. Sabrina Schlesinger Zweitgutachterin: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Claudia Pischke Don't stop believin' (Journey)

Teile dieser Arbeit wurden veröffentlicht:

Lang A., Kuss O., Filla T., Schlesinger S. (2021). Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis. *Eur J Nutr* 60 (4): 2121–2129. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02401-2

Lang A., Kuss O., Filla T., Kuhnle G., Schlesinger S. (2023). The mediating role of obesity on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk. *Nutr Diabetes* Sep 2;13(1):14. doi: 10.1038/s41387-023-00243-5

List of publications

Included in this dissertation

Lang A., Kuss O., Filla T., Schlesinger S. (2021). Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis. *Eur J Nutr* 60 (4): 2121–2129. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02401-2

Lang A., Kuss O., Filla T., Kuhnle G., Schlesinger S. (2023). The mediating role of obesity on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk. *Nutr Diabetes* Sep 2;13(1):14. doi: 10.1038/s41387-023-00243-5

Lang A., Schaefer E., Kupriyanova Y., Buyken AE., Kahl S., Zaharia OP., Herder C., Schrauwen-Hinderling VB., Kuss O., Wagner R., Roden M., Schlesinger S., GDS Group. (2024). Cross-sectional association between the isocaloric replacement of carbohydrates with protein and fat in relation to fat compartments distribution and hepatic lipid content in recent-onset type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *submitted*

Not included in this publication

Schlesinger S., Neuenschwander M., **Lang A.**, Pafili K., Kuss O., Herder C., Roden M. (2021). Risk phenotypes of diabetes and association with COVID-19 severity and death: a living systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia*. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05458-8

Schlesinger S., Neuenschwander M., Barbaresko J., **Lang A.**, Maalmi H., Rathmann W., Roden M., Herder C. (2022). Prediabetes and risk of mortality, diabetes-related complications and comorbidities: umbrella review of meta-analyses of prospective studies. *Diabetologia*. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05592-3

Baechle C., Scherler W., **Lang A.**, Filla T., Kuss O. (2022). Is HbA1c a valid surrogate for mortality in type 2 diabetes? Evidence from a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Acta Diabetologica*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-022-01887-y

Rietz M., Lehr A., Mino E., **Lang A.**, Szczerba E., Schiemann T., Herder C., Saatmann N., Geidl W., Barbaresko J., Neuenschwander M., Schlesinger S. (2022). Physical activity and risk of macro- and microvascular complications in individuals with diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Diabetes Care*. Dec 1;45(12):3101-3111. doi: 10.2337/dc22-0886

Matos Fialho PM., Guenther L., Schmitz E., Truemmler J., Willemsen S., Vomhof M., Icks A., **Lang A.**, Kuss O., Weyers S., Pischke CR. (2022). Effects of the Population-Based "10,000 Steps Duesseldorf" Intervention for Promoting Physical Activity in Community-Dwelling Adults: Protocol for a Nonrandomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR*. doi:10.2196/39175

Schlesinger S., **Lang A.**, Christodoulou N., Linnerz P., Barbaresko J., Neuenschwander M., Pafili K., Kuss O., Herder C., Roden M. (2022). Risk phenotypes of diabetes and association with COVID-19 severity and death: an update of a living systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia*. Aug;66(8):1395-1412. doi: 10.1007/s00125-023-05928-1

Barbaresko J., Lang A., Szczerba E., Baechle C., Beckhaus J., Schwingshackl L., Neuenschwander M., Schlesinger S. (2023). Dietary Factors and All-Cause Mortality in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Observational Studies. *Diabetes Care*. Feb 1;46(2):469-477. doi: 10.2337/dc22-1018

Baechle C., **Lang A.**, Strassburger K., Kuss O., Burkart V., Szendroedi J., Muessig K., Weber KS., Schrauwen-Hinderling V., Herder C., Roden M., Schlesinger S. (2023). Adherence to a healthy lifestyle and the association with cardiovascular markers, indicators for fatty liver disease, and body fat mass among individuals with recent-onset diabetes: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*. 11(4): e003469. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2023-003469

Gojda J., Koudelková K., Ouřadová A., **Lang A.**, Krbcová M., Gvozdeva A., Šebo V., Slagmolen L., Potočková J., Tůma P., Rossmeislová L., Anděl M., Karpe F., Schlesinger S. (2023). Severe COVID-19 associated hyperglycemia is caused by beta cell dysfunction: a prospective cohort study. *Nutr Diabetes*. Jul 17;13(1):11. doi: 10.1038/s41387-023-00241-7

Toennies T., Schlesinger S., Lang A., Kuss O. (2023). Mediation analysis in medical research. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. Oct 13;120(41):681-687. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.m2023.0175

Weber KS., Schlesinger S., Lang A., Straßburger K., Maalmi H., Zhu A., Zaharia OP., Strom A., Boenhof GJ., Goletzke J., Trenkamp S., Wagner R., Buyken AE., Lieb W., Roden M., Herder C. (2024). Association of dietary patterns with diabetes-related comorbidities varies among diabetes endotypes. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2024 Jan 5:S0939-4753(24)00001-2. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2023.12.026

Barbaresko J., Broeder J., Conrad J., Szczerba E., **Lang A**., Schlesinger S. (2024). Ultraprocessed food consumption and human health: an umbrella review of systematic reviews with meta-analyses. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. Feb 16:1-9. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2024.2317877

Schaefer E., Lang A., Kupriyanova Y., Bódis KB., Weber KS., Buyken AE., Barbaresko J., Kössler T., Kahl S., Zaharia OP., Szendroedi J., Herder C., Schrauwen-Hinderling VB., Wagner R., Kuss O., Roden M., Schlesinger S, GDS Group. (2024). Adherence to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet is associated with lower visceral and hepatic lipid content in recent-onset type 1 diabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab*. 2024 Jun 1–12. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.15772

Contributions at conferences

9th joint Diabetes and Metabolism Research Symposium Lille - Maastricht - Düsseldorf, Lille, France (2019)

Presentation: What if sugar is worse than just "empty calories"? A global causal mediation analysis

57th annual conference of the German Nutrition Society (DGE), Jena, Germany (2020)

Contribution in abstract book: Zucker – mehr als nur leere Kalorien? Ergebnisse einer globalen Mediationsanalyse

17th annual conference of the German Society for Epidemiology (DGEpi), Greifswald, Germany (2022)

Presentation: Association of a lifestyle score with cardiometabolic health among individuals with diabetes: a cross-sectional study

60th annual conference of the German Nutrition Society (DGE), Bonn, Germany (2023)

Presentation: Mediationseffekt von Übergewicht auf die prospektive Assoziation zwischen Saccharose im Urin und Diabetes-Inzidenz in einer Subgruppe der EPIC-Norfolk

18th annual conference of the German Society for Epidemiology (DGEpi), Würzburg, Germany (2023)

Presentation: Association of a lifestyle index with scores of diabetes-related distress, depression symptoms, health-related quality of life and well-being among individuals with new-onset diabetes: a cross-sectional study

Poster presentation: Risk phenotypes of diabetes as predictors for Covid-19-related death and severity: update of a systematic review and meta-analysis

59th annual meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), Hamburg, Germany (2023)

Short oral discussion: The mediating role of BMI and waist circumference on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and incidence of diabetes in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk

58th annual meeting of the European Diabetes Epidemiology Group (EDEG), Pesaro, Italy (2024)

Poster presentation: Association of a lifestyle index with scores of patient-reported outcomes among individuals with recent-onset type 1 and type 2 diabetes – a cross-sectional study

19th annual conference of the German Society for Epidemiology (DGEpi), Dresden, Germany (2024)

Poster presentation: Cross-sectional association between substitution of carbohydrates with protein/fat and subcutaneous, visceral and liver adipose tissue volume in recent-onset diabetes

Zusammenfassung

Bisherige Erkenntnisse zeigen, dass der Zusammenhang zwischen Zuckeraufnahme und Typ-2-Diabetes (T2D) heterogen und unschlüssig ist. Es wird diskutiert, ob die Zuckeraufnahme allein aufgrund eines Kalorienüberschusses und dem damit eingehenden Übergewicht zu T2D führt. Zudem wird eine reduzierte Kohlenhydratzufuhr für das Diabetes-Management empfohlen. Allerdings ist bisher nicht hinreichend geklärt, inwiefern die Aufnahme anderer Nährstoffe bei Personen mit Diabetes mit der Verteilung des Fettgewebes assoziiert ist. Die vorliegende Dissertation hatte zum Ziel, 1) den Zusammenhang zwischen der Zuckeraufnahme und Diabetes auf globaler und individueller Ebene sowie die Auswirkungen von Adipositas auf diese Assoziation zu ermitteln und 2) die Substitution von Kohlenhydraten durch Fett und Protein in Verbindung mit dem Körper- und Leberfettgehalt zu untersuchen.

Zur Untersuchung des Zusammenhangs zwischen Zuckeraufnahme und Diabetes wurden eine ökologische Studie mit aggregierten Daten auf globaler Ebene sowie eine prospektive Studie mit Daten aus der *EPIC-Norfolk* auf individueller Ebene durchgeführt. In beiden Studien wurde eine kausale Mediationsanalyse durchgeführt, um den Einfluss von Adipositas auf diesen Zusammenhang zu untersuchen. Des Weiteren wurde eine Substitutionsanalyse mit Daten aus der Deutschen Diabetes-Studie (GDS) durchgeführt, um den Austausch von Kohlenhydraten durch Fett und Protein in Verbindung mit mittels MRT gemessenem subkutanem und viszeralem Fettgewebe sowie dem Fettgehalt der Leber zu untersuchen.

Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass die Zuckeraufnahme sowohl auf globaler Ebene (Pro-Kopf-Zuckerkonsum) als auch auf individueller Ebene (objektiver Saccharose-Biomarker im Urin) mit einer höheren Diabetes-Prävalenz [β (95 % CI): 1.62 (0.71, 2.53)] bzw. höheren Inzidenz von T2D [HR: 1.14 (95 % CI: 0.95, 1.36)] assoziiert war. Diese Zusammenhänge lassen sich teilweise durch den Einfluss von Übergewicht erklären (~66 % auf globaler und ~20 % auf individueller Ebene). Darüber hinaus legen die Ergebnisse nahe, dass der Austausch von Kohlenhydraten durch mehrfach ungesättigte Fettsäuren bei Personen mit T2D mit geringerem viszeralen Fettgewebe und Leberfett verbunden war. Zudem konnte ein Zusammenhang zwischen dem Ersatz von Kohlenhydraten mit höherem glykämischem Index durch ungeradkettige oder sehr langkettige gesättigte Fettsäuren oder pflanzliche Proteine und einem geringeren Gehalt an Leberfetten bei Personen mit T2D festgestellt werden.

Zusammenfassend lässt sich festhalten, dass der Zusammenhang zwischen Zuckeraufnahme und Diabetes teilweise durch Übergewicht bestimmt wird. Es gibt jedoch Hinweise darauf, dass andere potenzielle direkte Mechanismen die Entwicklung von Diabetes beeinflussen können. Darüber hinaus scheint nicht allein eine Reduktion der Kohlenhydratzufuhr, sondern vielmehr die Qualität der dafür aufgenommenen Nährstoffe eine wesentliche Rolle bei der Akkumulation von Körper- und Leberfett zu spielen, insbesondere bei Personen mit T2D. Diese Dissertation betont die Relevanz der Kohlenhydrat- und Zuckeraufnahme in der Ernährung im Kontext mit der Prävention und Behandlung von Diabetes.



Summary

Previous evidence indicated that the association between dietary sugar intake and type 2 diabetes (T2D) is heterogeneous and inconclusive. In this context, it is discussed whether dietary sugar intake solely leads to T2D due to an excess of calories and thus obesity. Moreover, a restriction in carbohydrate intake appears beneficial in the management of diabetes. However, evidence on compensatory nutrient intake in individuals with diabetes in association with adipose tissue distribution is yet unclear. Therefore, this dissertation aimed to examine 1) the relationship between dietary sugar intake and onset of diabetes on a global and individual level and detect the impact of obesity on this association, and 2) the substitution of carbohydrates with fat and protein in association with body and liver fat content.

In order to investigate the association between dietary sugar intake and the onset of diabetes, we conducted an ecological study using aggregated data on a global level and a prospective study using data from the EPIC-Norfolk on an individual level. In both studies, causal mediation analysis was applied to examine the influence of obesity on this association. In addition, a cross-sectional substitution analysis was conducted using data from the German Diabetes Study (GDS) to investigate the replacement of carbohydrates with fat and protein in association with magnetic resonance imaging measured subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue volumes and hepatic lipid content.

The findings demonstrated that dietary sugar intake was associated with a 1.6 % higher prevalence of diabetes on a global level using aggregated data on per capita sugar consumption [β (95 % CI): 1.62 (0.71, 2.53)], as well as with a higher incidence of T2D on an individual level using objective urinary sucrose biomarker [HR: 1.14 (95 % CI: 0.95, 1.36)]. These associations can be partly explained by the mediating influence of obesity (~66 % on a global and ~20 % on an individual level). Furthermore, the results indicated that substituting carbohydrates with polyunsaturated fatty acids was linked to lower visceral adipose tissue volume and hepatic lipid content in individuals with T2D. Similarly, replacing higher glycemic index carbohydrates with odd-chain or very-long-chain saturated fatty acids or plant-based protein was associated with lower hepatic lipid content in T2D.

In conclusion, the association between dietary sugar intake and the onset of diabetes is partially mediated by overweight or obesity. However, there is an indication that other potential direct sugar-related mechanisms may influence the development of diabetes. In addition, the findings indicate that not solely a restriction of carbohydrate intake, but rather the quality of the replacing nutrients play a crucial role in the accumulation of body and liver fat content, particularly in individuals with T2D. This dissertation highlights the importance of dietary carbohydrate and sugar intake in the context of diabetes prevention and management.



Abbreviations

24uSF	24-hour urinary sucrose and fructose		
ADA	American Diabetes Association		
BMI	Body mass index		
CIA	Central Intelligence Agency		
CKD	Chronic kidney disease		
δ13C	Ratio of the two stable isotopes of carbon-13 and carbon-12		
δ15Ν	tio of the two stable isotopes of nitrogen-15 and nitrogen-14		
DDG	German Diabetes Society (Deutsche Diabetes Gesellschaft)		
EPIC	European Prospective Investigation into Cancer		
FAO	ood and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations		
GDS	German Diabetes Study		
GI	Glycaemic index		
GL	Glycaemic load		
HbA1c	Glycated haemoglobin		
HDL	HDL High density lipoprotein		
HL	HL Hepatic lipid		
IDF	International Diabetes Federation		
Kcal	Kilocalories		
LDL	Low density lipoprotein		
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acid		
n-3 PUFA	Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid		
n-6 PUFA	Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid		
PDE	Pure direct effect		
PM	Proportion mediated		
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid		
RCT	Randomized controlled trial		
SAT	Subcutaneous adipose tissue		
SFA	Saturated fatty acid		
T1D	Type 1 diabetes		
T2D	Type 2 diabetes		
TIE	Total indirect effect		
UN	United Nations		
WC	Waist circumference		
WHO	World Health Organization		
VAT	Visceral adipose tissue		



Table of contents

Zusammenfassung
SummaryI
AbbreviationsII
Table of contents
List of Figures
List of Tables
Chapter 1 1
Introduction1
Epidemiology and aetiology of diabetes
Burden of diabetes
Risk factors of diabetes onset and progression
Carbohydrates in the context of diabetes prevention and progression
Urinary sugar biomarkers
Obesity on the pathway between sugar intake and diabetes
Substitution of carbohydrates with other macronutrients11
Aims of this doctoral thesis
Chapter 2 14
Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis
Chapter 3
The mediating role of obesity on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk
Chapter 4 16
Cross-sectional association between the isocaloric replacement of carbohydrates with protein and fat in relation to fat compartments distribution and hepatic lipid content in recent-onset type 1 and type 2 diabetes
Chapter 5 17
Discussion
Key findings of this doctoral thesis18
Association between dietary sugar intake and risk of type 2 diabetes
Influence of the BMI on the association between sugar intake and type 2 diabetes 21
Potential direct sugar-related mechanisms24
Carbohydrate substitution in diabetes management25
Strengths and limitations
Implications for public health and future research
Conclusions
References
Appendix

List of Figures

Figure 1: Number of adults aged 20-79 years living with diabetes worldwide and per IDF	
Region in 2021 and estimates for the years 2030 and 2045	2
Figure 2: Global per capita sugar consumption per day in 2021 using food supply data of	
sugar (raw equivalent) of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations	8
Figure 3: Summary of the findings of the mediation analyses (project 1 and 2) investigating	
the influence of BMI on the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes	i
prevalence (A) and the influence of BMI and WC on the association between urinary sucrose	Э
and incidence of type 2 diabetes (B) 2	3
Figure 4: Pathophysiological mechanisms for dietary sugar intake and the development of	
type 2 diabetes 2	5

List of Tables



Chapter 1

Introduction



Epidemiology and aetiology of diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most prevalent chronic metabolic disorders, characterised by elevated blood glucose levels due to pancreatic β -cell dysfunction and insulin resistance (1, 2). The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimated that the global prevalence of diabetes in individuals aged 20-79 years was around 10.5 % in 2021, affecting approximately 537 million people (3). In addition, the 10th edition of the IDF Diabetes Atlas estimated that the same number of individuals (~541 million) additionally lived with impaired glucose tolerance (4). These estimates also predict that the prevalence of diabetes will increase worldwide in the coming decades, particularly in middle-income countries in Africa, the Middle East and South-East Asia (Figure 1). In numerical terms, it is predicted that approximately 643 million people will be affected by diabetes by 2030, rising to approximately 783 million by 2045. This represents an increase in the prevalence of diabetes to 12.2 % (4). As a result, diabetes has become of the most rapidly growing global health emergencies of the 21st century, imposing a substantial economic burden on healthcare systems and governments worldwide. In 2021, total health expenditures due to diabetes reached 966 billion US dollars (4). According to the German Health Report Diabetes 2024 by the German Diabetes Society (DDG), at least 8.9 million people in Germany were living with diabetes in 2023 (5).



Figure 1: Number of adults aged 20-79 years living with diabetes worldwide and per IDF Region in 2021 and estimates for the years 2030 and 2045 (4)

The American Diabetes Association (ADA) classifies diabetes mellitus into four subtypes: type 1 diabetes (T1D), type 2 diabetes (T2D), gestational diabetes mellitus and specific types of diabetes (e.g., neonatal diabetes or maturity-onset diabetes in the young) (2). As the latter two subtypes are not prominent in the data used in this dissertation, the focus will be on people with T1D and, in particular, T2D. Individuals with T1D suffer from autoimmune destruction of the insulin-producing β -cells in the pancreas, resulting in an absolute deficiency of insulin



secretion. In contrast, T2D is characterised by progressive loss of β -cell function and advanced insulin resistance, leading to elevated blood glucose levels and ultimately to relative insulin deficiency (2). The onset of T1D is strongly influenced by genetic predisposition, with a peak incidence in adolescence and early adulthood (6). Approximately 5-10 % of all cases of diabetes are T1D, while 90-95 % are consequently T2D (2). Although genetics also play a role in the aetiology of T2D, this type of diabetes is particularly associated with modifiable risk factors such as a sedentary lifestyle, poor diet and overweight (1, 7). According to the ADA, IDF and World Health Organization (WHO), people are diagnosed with T2D, if they have a fasting plasma glucose level of \geq 126 mg/dL, a 2-hour plasma glucose level after an oral glucose tolerance test or a random plasma glucose level of \geq 200 mg/dL, or a glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) level of \geq 6.5 % (2, 4, 8). In Germany, T2D is more commonly diagnosed in people over 50 years of age, with a peak incidence of 24 newly diagnosed cases per 1000 person-years observed in individuals aged 85 years (9).

Burden of diabetes

Due to the increasing prevalence of diabetes worldwide, healthcare systems are increasingly challenged with the responsibility of providing treatment for individuals with diabetes or preventing further comorbidities (4). Research indicates that a large proportion of individuals with T2D are overweight or obese, which represents a major risk factor for disease progression (10). However, there is also is an emerging trend in individuals with T1D towards being overweight and facing insulin resistance as a consequence of poor lifestyle choices and intensive insulin therapy (11). Insulin resistance and insulin deficiency not only affect glucose metabolism, but also trigger a cascade of pathophysiological changes throughout the body. Individuals with diabetes, especially T2D, are at increased risk of developing cardiometabolic comorbidities and complications, as well as experiencing impaired quality of life and premature death (12). Evidence from epidemiological studies has shown that there is a crucial link between diabetes and cardiovascular disease (CVD), with approximately one third of people living with T2D also affected by CVD (13). Moreover, findings from a meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies revealed that individuals with diabetes had a twofold higher relative risk of developing coronary heart disease (CHD) or ischemic stroke compared to individuals without diabetes (14). As a consequence, individuals with T2D also have a more than threefold higher risk of CVD mortality compared to people without diabetes (15). In particular, women with T2D appear to have a higher risk of CVD incidence and mortality (14, 15).

In addition, diabetes is associated with a spectrum of further complications and comorbidities, including diabetic retinopathy (16), lower-extremity amputations (17), chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal disease (18, 19). In this context, previous studies have



demonstrated that metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (MASLD) is also associated with an increased incidence of T2D (20), indicating that there appears to exist a bidirectional relationship between liver fat accumulation and T2D due to induced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis (21, 22). Furthermore, individuals with diabetes are at higher risk of developing depression or experiencing a lower quality of life than the general population (23, 24). Additionally, diabetes is associated with an increased risk of cancer and higher mortality rates (25, 26). In 2021, approximately 6.7 million deaths that were attributed to diabetes and its complications, making it one of the leading causes of premature death worldwide (4). In Germany, it is estimated that 21 % of all deaths are related to diabetes, with 16 % of these deaths attributable to T2D alone (27). In conclusion, diabetes represents an enormous public health burden with broad implications for individuals, families, and societies both in Germany and worldwide.

Risk factors of diabetes onset and progression

In order to address the diabetes epidemic and its serious complications, it is essential to identify the underlying risk factors that contribute to the onset and progression of T2D. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that fundamental factors, including advanced age, a family history of diabetes, ethnicity and lower socioeconomic status, are associated with the onset of T2D (4, 28-30). However, as previously stated, behavioural, and thus modifiable, risk factors also play a substantial role in the prevention of T2D (1, 7). In this context, epidemiological evidence indicated that the adherence to a more favourable lifestyle has the potential to prevent the onset and progression of T2D (31). Consequently, several organisations, including the ADA and the IDF, recommend lifestyle modification as a cornerstone of diabetes prevention and management (32, 33). Studies have shown that nonsmokers have a reduced risk of developing T2D in comparison to those who are current or former smokers (34). Similarly, in individuals with diabetes, non-smoking was associated with a lower risk of all-cause mortality, as well as CVD incidence and mortality (35). Moreover, comparable relationships were identified with regard to physical activity. Higher levels of physical activity were found to be associated with a reduced risk of T2D, regardless of the intensity and type of exercise (36). In addition, a recent systematic and meta-analysis found with moderate certainty of evidence that higher levels of physical activity in individuals with diabetes were inversely associated with the incidence and mortality of CVD, as well as microvascular complications, even at lower levels of activity (37). A moderate certainty of evidence means that we are moderately confident in the effect estimate, but further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence and may result in a change of the estimate (38). Following this assessment, findings with a moderate or high (further research is very unlikely to change the confidence in the effect estimate) certainty of evidence are



considered for recommendations and guidelines (39). Beyond that, there has been a growing body of evidence published in recent decades on the influence of a favourable diet on the prevention and progression of diabetes.

In a recent umbrella review, a systematic overview of the associations between dietary food and nutrient intake and the T2D incidence was provided (40). The results indicated with high or moderate certainty of evidence that the intake of total meat, red and processed meat, bacon, white rice, French fries and hot dogs was associated with a higher relative risk of developing T2D. Conversely, the consumption of other foods, including whole grains, wheat bran, yoghurt, and dairy products, was associated with a lower risk of T2D. Furthermore, on a nutrient basis, the results demonstrated protective associations between the intake of cereal fibre, vegetable fat, and total fibre intake and T2D. In contrast, total protein, animal protein and a higher animal protein-to-potassium ratio were associated with a higher risk of T2D (40). In this context, there is an increasing body of epidemiological evidence that replacing animal-based foods with plant-based foods may be beneficial for metabolic health. Findings of a recent systematic review and meta-analysis indicated with moderate certainty of evidence that replacing butter with olive oil, as well as replacing red and processed meat, poultry or eggs with nuts, whole grains or cereals was associated with a lower risk of T2D (41).

Beyond that, diet can potentially also play an important role in diabetes management. In this context, several dietary guidelines have been published in recent years by professional organisations and societies with the objective of preventing the progression of diabetes. For instance, the IDF recommends that overweight and obese individuals with T2D reduce their daily calorie intake by 500-600 kilocalories (kcal), increase their intake of fibre-rich and low glycaemic index (GI) foods, and avoid sugar, sweets and sweetened beverages (32). In addition, the ADA and the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) have published comprehensive guidelines based on several specific food groups and dietary patterns to prevent the progression of diabetes (33, 42). According to these associations, it is recommended to increase the intake of minimally processed plant foods, such as fruit and vegetables, whole grains, legumes, nuts and seeds, as well as foods rich in fibre and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFA). On the other hand, experts emphasise limiting the intake of processed or ultra-processed foods containing red and processed meat, refined grains, sugar and sodium, reducing overall carbohydrate intake and replacing sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) and fruit juices with preferably water (33, 42). In Germany, the German Diabetes Society (DDG) recommends that the consumption of non-starchy vegetables and low-processed foods should be preferred to refined sugars and highly-processed grains, which may be accessible by following a Mediterranean, vegetarian or vegan diet (43). Overall, the aforementioned guidelines are largely consistent with one another. However, the majority of these recommendations are based on evidence derived from the

5

general population, and systematic evidence of associations between dietary intake and progression of diabetes carried out in individuals with diabetes is still limited. Findings of a recent systematic review and meta-analysis indicated that a higher intake of whole grains, fibre, fish and n-3 PUFA was associated with a lower risk of all-cause mortality in individuals with T2D, with a moderate certainty of evidence (44). Moreover, an umbrella review of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) revealed that in addition to restricting total energy intake, certain diets, including the Mediterranean diet, a plant-based diet or a high-protein diet, may be beneficial for cardiometabolic health in individuals with T2D (45).

Carbohydrates in the context of diabetes prevention and progression

Previous studies have shown that the dietary carbohydrate intake may be an important factor in the context of diabetes. Although there is no evidence that a carbohydrate restriction is associated with the risk of T2D (40), findings from RCTs have indicated that a diet low in carbohydrates may be beneficial for the management of T2D (45). In this context, evidence has demonstrated that low-carbohydrate diets have been linked to reduced body weight, HbA1c and triglyceride levels, along with elevated high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels a decreased reliance on medication in individuals with T2D. These findings are supported by moderate to high certainty of evidence (45, 46). However, the source and quality of carbohydrate intake may be of particular importance in this context.

In recent years, there has been a growing recognition of the role of carbohydrate quality in the prevention of T2D and the management of both T1D and T2D (47, 48). In this context, the GI is the most commonly used method for evaluating the quality of carbohydrates. The GI is a measure on a scale of 0-100 that quantifies the extent to which carbohydrates in foods affect postprandial blood glucose levels after their consumption, relative to the same amount of a reference carbohydrate (typically a glucose solution or white bread) (49). Subsequently, carbohydrate-containing foods can be categorised on the GI scale according to how rapidly or slowly they are digested, absorbed and metabolised, resulting in high (\geq 70), medium (56-69) and low GI (\leq 55) foods (47, 49). The highest average GIs are observed in potatoes, rice, white wheat bread and cornflakes, while the lowest are found in dairy products, legumes, sports energy bars and nuts (50, 51). While the GI does not take into account the quantity of carbohydrate consumed, the glycaemic load (GL) is calculated as the product of the GI multiplied by the amount of carbohydrate in a typical portion divided by the given amount of food. Consequently, the GL is a more comprehensive measure in practice and a better predictor of glycaemic response than the amounts of macronutrients alone (47, 49).

In general, a lower the GI or GL value indicates a slower is the postprandial glycaemic response, which is considered more beneficial for glycaemic control (47, 49). In this context,



findings of a systematic review and meta-analysis of large cohort studies have provided evidence that diets with a high GI or GL are associated with an increased risk of T2D (52-54). Beyond that, an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs with a duration of >12 weeks has indicated that GI and GL may also have the potential to play an important role in the management of T2D. The findings showed that a low GI or GL was associated with reduced low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol (55, 56), which was rated with moderate certainty of evidence (45). Moreover, additional meta-evidence indicated that adherence to a low GI/GL diet improved glycaemic control, body weight, body mass index (BMI) and inflammation in individuals with diabetes (57, 58). Consequently, the dietary guidelines of the IDF and the EASD recommend following diets with low GI/GL for the management of T2D (32, 42).

Although diets containing low GI carbohydrates appear to be beneficial for individuals with diabetes, the evidence on the relationship between dietary sugar intake and incident diabetes is inconsistent and findings are partially inconclusive. However, this issue should be highlighted in research, as children and adolescents consume approximately 12-14 energy percent (En%) of their total energy intake from free sugars, and adults 8 En% (59). Dietary sugar intake has risen dramatically in recent decades, particularly in developing and emerging countries, due to population growth, higher incomes and increased demand for sugary confectionery and soft drinks, and it is anticipated that this trend will continue (59-61). In contrast, dietary sugar intake has remained stable or declined slightly in developed countries due to health concerns, but remains high in Western civilisations (60, 61). Figure 2, derived from data provided by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), illustrates the global per capita consumption of sugar in 2021. The highest levels of per capita sugar consumption were observed in Guatemala (538 kcal/day), Cuba (506 kcal/day) and Barbados (480 kcal/day), while the lowest intakes were observed in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (23 kcal/day), Guinea-Bissau (24 kcal/day) and Myanmar (29 kcal/day).The daily per capita sugar consumption was approximately 380 kcal/day in Germany and 296 kcal/day in Europe as a whole in 2021 (62). Due to its negative impact on weight gain and dental caries, the WHO has strongly recommended a reduction in the intake of free sugars to less than 10 En% throughout the life course (63). In a consensus paper, professional German societies also adopted this recommendation for Germany, which corresponds to a daily maximum intake of 50 g free sugars, given a total energy intake of 2000 kcal per day (64). Conditionally, a further reduction of free sugar intake to less than 5 En% may be appropriate according to the WHO, particularly for children (63).

Nevertheless, there is an ongoing debate about the influence of dietary sugar intake on the onset and progression of diabetes. In 2018, in an essay published in the *BMJ*, it is argued that sugar may not only be a source of excess calories, but also a fundamental cause of T2D, and



research has primarily focused on the impact of fat and total energy intake (65). There is convincing meta-evidence that the consumption of SSBs is associated with an increased risk of T2D (66). This association has been evaluated as high certainty of evidence, indicating that further research is unlikely to change the confidence in this association (40). In contrast, the evidence for an association between dietary sugar intake as mono- and disaccharides and the incidence of T2D is insufficient and findings point in the opposite direction. In this context, the results of a systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that a higher total sugar intake was inversely associated with the incidence of T2D, but the results were imprecisely estimated (67). This meta-analysis also showed that a higher dietary sucrose intake was linked to a lower risk of T2D. However, the findings of the included primary studies were heterogeneous and the certainty of evidence was rated as very low or low, respectively (40). This indicates that there is limited (low) or very little (very low) confidence in the effect estimates and that it's very likely that further research will change the effect estimates (38). Moreover, the associations between fructose, glucose, lactose and maltose with T2D incidence were inconclusive (67, 68), all of which were rated with very low certainty of evidence (40).



Figure 2: Global per capita sugar consumption per day in 2021 using food supply data of sugar (raw equivalent) of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (62) © Australian Bureau of Statistics, GeoNames, Geospatial Data Edit, Microsoft, Navinfo, OpenStreetMap, TomTom, Wikipedia – own illustration supported by Bing

These inconclusive epidemiological observations may be explained by measurement errors due to reporting bias, which is often accompanied by the common methods for assessing nutritional behaviour. Dietary intake is mostly retrieved with self-reports using different diet assessment approaches, such as 24-hour recalls, diet records or food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) (69). However, studies have shown that these tools are eventually prone to bias, which finally affects the accuracy of dietary assessment (70). The findings of these studies indicated that participants tend to underreport their true food intake, especially for generally known unhealthy food items, such as cakes and cookies (71). This pattern was particularly evident in overweight individuals, suggesting that social desirability and reporting



bias might be present (72). Therefore, the inconsistent findings of dietary sugar intake in relation to health outcomes might be induced due to misreporting.

Urinary sugar biomarkers

Since values of dietary sugar intake assessed by self-reports might vary from real values, presumably due to measurement errors, different approaches to measure dietary sugar intake should be taken into account. In this context, the use of objective sugar biomarkers may be a more accurate method to measure the true dietary sugar intake than assessment methods based on self-reports. One method for objectively assessing dietary sugar intake is the measurement of sucrose and fructose in urine samples.

The first time urinary sucrose and fructose were measured in urine was in 1996, when scientists discovered that the excretion of sucrose and fructose was correlated with sucrose intake after following a low-sucrose diet for three days (73). Subsequently, the urinary sucrose and fructose biomarkers have been investigated in numerous studies and in 2005, the first results of a validation study using 24-hour urinary sucrose and fructose (24uSF) biomarkers was published by Tasevska et al. (74). This validation involved two distinct studies conducted in healthy adult populations within highly controlled settings. The first study was a randomised crossover trial in 12 healthy males including three dietary regimens, each containing different levels of total sugars: low (63 g/d), medium (143 g/d) and high (264 g/d). Each dietary regimen was followed for a period of 10 days. On days four and seven of each diet, 24-hour urine samples were collected, and a high correlation of 0.89 was found between dietary sugar intake and urinary excretion of sucrose and fructose. In the second study, the habitual intake of 13 healthy subjects was assessed and participants' meals within the study were based on dietary information assessed with a detailed 7-day diet diary (7DD) for four consecutive weeks prior to the study. Over the course of 30 days, 24-hour urine samples were collected on a daily basis, demonstrating again a high correlation (r = 0.84) between dietary sugar intake and urinary excretion (74). Subsequently, further validation studies have confirmed the reliability of 24uSF, demonstrating that the correlation between dietary sugar intake and the urinary biomarker was also high in adolescents (75), across larger study samples (76, 77), over longterm consumption (77), and independent of BMI (78).

Following the validation of the 24uSF biomarker, Tasevska and colleagues compared it with self-reported dietary sugar intake in cohort studies by employing a prediction equation derived from the aforementioned validation study to estimate "true" sugar intake from the biomarker data (74). In this context, data from the Nutrition and Physical Activity Assessment study revealed a comparable correlation between the biomarker-predicted and self-reported dietary sugar intake when using an FFQ (r = 0.22), a 4-day food record (r = 0.26) and an average of



three 24-hour recalls (r = 0.26) (79). Moreover, data from the Observing Protein and Energy Nutrition (OPEN) study indicated that the correlation coefficients between biomarker-predicted and self-reported dietary sugar intake were higher in men (FFQ: r = 0.43; two 24-hour recalls: r = 0.58) than in women (FFQ: r = 0.16; two 24-hour recalls: r = 0.25) (80).

In addition, some studies have looked at urinary sugar biomarkers that were not measured in 24-hour urine samples. For instance, sucrose and fructose were quantified from spot urine samples in a subsample of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk) cohort. Studies carried out in the EPIC-Norfolk demonstrated a positive association between urinary sucrose and overweight or obesity, but inverse or null associations between self-reported dietary sugar intake and overweight or obesity (81, 82). Beyond that, a Swedish study reported correlation coefficients of approximately r = 0.2-0.3 between overnight urinary sucrose and fructose biomarker with total sugars, added sugars and sucrose in both men and women (83). These findings were similar to the correlations between morning urine samples and self-reported dietary sugar intake in children from the I.Family study (84). However, urinary biomarkers in any form other than 24-hour urine samples have not yet been shown to be objective biomarkers in validation studies.

Obesity on the pathway between sugar intake and diabetes

As previously stated, the question of whether dietary sugar intake directly influences the development of diabetes remains a topic of debate. One hypothesis suggests that a high-sugar diet leads to an overload in calorie intake, and thus to obesity (85, 86), which is the real risk factor for diabetes (87, 88). In this case, dietary sugar intake would exert an indirect influence on the development of T2D. In previous studies that investigated the association between dietary sugar intake and diabetes incidence, researchers conducted an additional model, in which they also controlled for BMI and revealed an indication that BMI may bias this relationship (89-91). As a result of this additional adjustment for BMI, the inverse findings were attenuated, indicating that BMI may influence this association. However, in order to ascertain the extent to which the relationship between dietary sugar intake and diabetes can be attributed to overweight and to identify the extent to which other pathophysiological mechanisms may influence this association, the methodological approach of mediation analysis can be applied.

In mediation analysis, the objective is to decompose the total effect of an exposure-outcome association into a direct and an indirect effect. The indirect effect describes the effect of the exposure on the outcome that operates via the causal pathway through a third variable (the mediator). In contrast, the direct effect represents the effect of the exposure on the outcome independent of the mediator (92, 93). To provide a more detailed clarification of the concept of mediation analysis, it is necessary to employ a counterfactual approach suggested by

10

VanderWeele (94). In a counterfactual framework, the total indirect effect (TIE) is defined as the difference in the counterfactual outcome if the mediator was set to the level it would have been when the person was exposed (M_1) versus the level it would have been when the same person was not exposed (M_0), assuming that the exposure was present (Y_1). Moreover, the pure direct effect (PDE) represents the difference in the counterfactual outcome, if a person was exposed (Y_1) in contrast to the same person was not exposed (Y_0) to the independent variable, assuming that the mediator is held constant at the value it would have been in the absence of exposure (M_0) (94). The formula for decomposing the total effect into TIE and PDE is as follows:



Additionally, the proportion mediated (PM) can be calculated as the quotient of the TIE and the total effect. The PM quantifies the extent to which the total effect is explained by the mediator, expressed as a percentage. Higher values indicate a stronger impact of the mediator on the exposure-outcome association (92).

In order to perform mediation analysis, certain criteria must be met. First, there must be an association between exposure and outcome. Second, the exposure must be related to the mediator. Third, the mediator must be related to the outcome, indicating that the mediator lies on the causal pathway between exposure and outcome. In light of this causal inference, it is recommended that exposure, mediator and outcome should ideally be measured at three different time points, if applicable (92).

Substitution of carbohydrates with other macronutrients

To gain further insight into the relationship between carbohydrate intake and diabetes progression, the approach of substitution analysis was employed. As previously stated, there is evidence indicating that diets high in carbohydrates high in GI and SSBs are detrimental to health in terms of T2D (40, 53). Consequently, a number of international organisations have advised a reduction in the consumption of high GI carbohydrates (32, 42), as well as free and added sugars (51, 95). However, reducing carbohydrates without restricting total energy intake leads to compensatory increased intake of protein and fat, which may subsequently affect metabolic health. In order to investigate this effect, isocaloric substitution analysis, a well-established tool in nutritional epidemiology, can be conducted (96, 97).



In isocaloric substitution analysis, the impact of replacing one dietary component with another on a specific outcome is investigated, while the overall caloric intake is kept constant. This statistical approach allows the results of feeding studies to be mimicked with epidemiological data, thus identifying the most beneficial diet (97). Two different methods can be applied, which ultimately lead to the same results: the leave-one-out and the partition method (Table 1). In this section, both methods will be briefly outlined for the scenario in which the food component A (e.g., protein) is replacing the food component C (e.g., carbohydrates), while the remaining food component B (e.g., fat) remains constant. The leave-one-out method involves the inclusion of the replacing variable A, variable B, and the total intake of A, B, and C combined, but not variable C alone. However, the partition method allows the inclusion of all three food components in the model on an individual basis. In substitution analyses based on linear regression models, the substituting effect would then be represented by the beta-coefficient for variable A (α_1) in the leave-one-out method and the difference in beta-coefficients of the replacing variable A minus the replaced variable C in the partition method (β_1 - β_3) (97). Consequently, the substitution effect can be interpreted as the change in outcome resulting from the replacement of variable C with variable A.

 Table 1: Depiction of the two most common models used for substitution analysis - modified version of Song (97)

Model name	Model expression	Substitution parameter (substituting A for C)	Variance estimates
Leave-one-out model	$f(Y) = \alpha_1 A + \alpha_2 B + \alpha_3 (A + B + C)$	α1	var(α₁)
Partition model	$f(Y) = \beta_1 A + \beta_2 B + \beta_3 C$	$\beta_1 - \beta_3$	$var(\beta_1 - \beta_3) = var(\beta_1) + var(\beta_3) - 2cov(\beta_1 - \beta_3)$

Furthermore, it is crucial to account for potential important confounding variables, when conducting substitution analyses with dietary data. First of all, it is essential to control the models for total dietary energy intake in order to ensure that the substitution is performed in an isocaloric setting. Moreover, the models must be adjusted for a priori-defined covariates based on existing knowledge in the literature or directed acyclic graphs (e.g., age, sex, physical activity). In addition, it is necessary to control for all the other food components besides the replacing and the replaced food component (96). In analyses based on nutrient intake, where carbohydrates are replaced with total fat, the remaining food component protein must be maintained at a constant level. However, if monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) are replaced at the expense of carbohydrates, it is necessary to adjust for protein again, but also for polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) and saturated fatty acids (SFA), in order to complete the macronutrient intake (96).



Aims of this doctoral thesis

The objective of the publication-based doctoral thesis was to investigate the relationship between dietary carbohydrate and sugar intake and diabetes prevention and management in three major research projects.

First, we hypothesised that the relationship between dietary sugar intake and diabetes, particularly T2D, is not solely attributable to the impact of obesity. Thus, there may be additional direct sugar-related mechanisms that contribute to the relationship between dietary sugar intake and diabetes. In order to examine this hypothesis, two causal mediation analyses were conducted. The first one was based on aggregated ecological data, in which we aimed to investigate the direct effect of per capita sugar consumption on diabetes prevalence, as well as the indirect effect and accordingly the PM of BMI on this association on a global scale (project 1).

Second, we sought to examine the association between dietary sugar intake and incidence of T2D on an individual level, using a sucrose biomarker from spot urine sample, as well as dietary sucrose intake from a FFQ or 7DD assessed in a subsample of the EPIC-Norfolk. In our second mediation analysis, we then examined the impact of BMI and waist circumference (WC) on the association between urinary sucrose and T2D incidence in order to calculate the indirect effect and PM through the influence of BMI or WC and the direct effect that could be explained by urinary sucrose (project 2).

Third, we hypothesized that the dietary carbohydrate intake in general plays a crucial role in the management of T1D and T2D, with a lower intake potentially being associated with more favourable body fat distribution and liver fat accumulation. However, to maintain the energy intake at a constant level, carbohydrates must be substituted with fat or protein, which may affect the aforementioned outcomes. In order to investigate the impact of replacing carbohydrates on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-derived subcutaneous (SAT) and visceral fat tissue (VAT), as well as liver proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H-MRS)-derived hepatic liver (HL) content, we conducted cross-sectional substitution analyses, using data from the German Diabetes Study (GDS) including individuals with recent-onset T1D and T2D: First, carbohydrates were replaced with total fat, MUFA, PUFA, SFA and protein; Second, higher GI carbohydrates were replaced with low GI carbohydrates, animal-based and plant-based MUFA, omega-3 (n-3) and omega-6 (n-6) PUFA, even-chain, very-long-chain and odd-chain SFA, as well as animal-based protein and plant-based protein (project 3)



Chapter 2

Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis

(doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02401-2)



Summary

There is an ongoing debate, whether dietary sugar intake is influencing the onset of T2D. Previous studies have demonstrated that a higher intake of SSBs is associated with an increased T2D risk. However, the evidence on the relation between the intake of mono- and disaccharides and T2D is heterogeneous and inconclusive. Furthermore, it is generally hypothesised that a higher sugar intake leads to overweight or obesity, which might be the true risk factor for diabetes. In order to investigate, whether dietary sugar intake may potentially have a direct influence on diabetes, the aim of this study was to examine the mediation effect of BMI on the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence based on aggregated ecological data.

This ecological study included aggregated freely accessible data of 192 countries collected from reliable global organisations. The data on per capita sugar consumption was obtained from the FAO, the data on BMI from the WHO, the data on diabetes prevalence from the IDF, and the data on demographic and economic covariates from the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), the United Nations (UN) and the FAO. In order to simulate a prospective sequence between per capita sugar consumption (from 2007), BMI (from 2012) and diabetes prevalence (from 2017), lead time intervals were taken into account. Missing values were imputed using multiple imputation and the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence was investigated with multivariable linear regression analysis. Mediation analysis was performed to examine the potential mediating role of BMI on this association.

Globally, the mean per capita sugar consumption was 191 ± 122 kcal/day, the mean BMI was 24.0 ± 2.3 kg/m², and the mean diabetes prevalence was 8.5 ± 2.8 %. The findings of the multivariable linear regression analysis indicated that an increase in per capita sugar consumption per 100 kcal/day was associated with a 1.6 % higher prevalence of diabetes [β (95 % CI): 1.62 (0.71, 2.53)]. The mediation analysis indicated that the influence of BMI on this association was 66 % [PM (95 % CI): 66 % (34 %, 100 %)].

In conclusion, these findings demonstrated that per capita sugar consumption was associated with a higher diabetes prevalence on a global level. Approximately two thirds of this association was mediated by the BMI. Nevertheless, up to one third of the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes could be explained by other, potentially direct, mechanisms. Further studies using individual data are warranted to confirm these results.

Chapter 3

The mediating role of obesity on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk

(doi: 10.1038/s41387-023-00243-5)



Summary

Findings from epidemiological studies have yielded inconclusive results regarding the association between dietary sugar intake in the form of mono- and disaccharides and the development of diabetes. This may be explained by the fact that most of these studies assessed dietary sugar intake through self-report which may be prone to reporting bias. In order to avoid these measurement errors, objective biomarkers, such as urinary sucrose, may be a more reliable choice for examining the association between dietary sugar intake and diabetes onset. Thus, the objective of this study was to investigate the associations between sucrose intake, both measured via self-report and urinary sucrose, with T2D incidence. Furthermore, we aimed to examine the influence of overweight on an individual level on the association between urinary sucrose and incident diabetes.

In this study, 2996 participants from the prospective EPIC-Norfolk cohort with available data on urinary sucrose within the detection limit were included. Urinary sucrose biomarker was measured in spot urine samples and dietary sucrose intake was assessed with a FFQ and a 7DD. The associations between dietary and urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence were investigated in multivariable Cox proportional hazard models. The PM of BMI and WC on this association was calculated in a causal mediation analysis.

During a mean follow-up period of 11.2 ± 2.9 years 97 of the 2996 participants (53 % women, mean age: 60.6 ± 9.5 years) developed T2D. The results of the multivariable Cox regression indicated that an increase in self-reported dietary sucrose intake per 50 g/d was associated with a 37 % lower risk of T2D based on data from 7DD [HR (95 % CI): 0.63 (0.43, 0.91)]. Using the FFQ data showed similar, but imprecisely estimated, results [HR (95 % CI): 0.81 (0.46, 1.42)]. Conversely, higher levels of urinary sucrose were associated with an increased risk of T2D, both in continuous analysis [HR (95 % CI) per 100 µM: 1.14 (0.95, 1.36)] and in the comparison of highest versus lowest intake [HR (95 % CI): 1.36 (0.77, 2.41)]. However, the findings were imprecisely estimated. The results of the mediation analysis demonstrated that the PM of BMI or WC was 16 % or 22 %, respectively, indicating that approximately one fifth of the association between urinary sucrose and the incidence of T2D can be explained through overweight.

In conclusion, these findings demonstrated that objectively measured sugar intake via urinary sucrose biomarker was associated with an increased incidence of T2D. It appears that this association is only partly influenced by BMI and WC, suggesting that other pathomechanisms may play an essential role in the development of T2D.

Chapter 4

Cross-sectional association between the isocaloric replacement of carbohydrates with protein and fat in relation to fat compartments distribution and hepatic lipid content in recentonset type 1 and type 2 diabetes



Summary

Diet does not only play a role in T2D prevention, but also in the management of both, T1D and T2D. Especially a carbohydrate restriction is recommended in this context. However, reducing the carbohydrate intake while keeping the total energy at a constant level leads to compensatory increased intake of fat and protein. In this context, it is crucial to consider the quality of these nutrients, as it can affect the fat compartments distribution. Thus, the aim of this study was to investigate the isocaloric substitutions of carbohydrates with fat and protein in individuals with recent-onset T1D and T2D in relation to SAT, VAT and HL content.

In this cross-sectional analysis, participants with recent-onset T1D (n=137) and T2D (n=170) from the ongoing GDS were included. Macronutrient intake was assessed using a validated FFQ and calculated based on reported frequencies in combination with assigned portion sizes for each food item. SAT and VAT volumes were quantified using a whole-body MRI and HL content via ¹H-MRS. Isocaloric substitution analyses based on multivariable linear regression models were conducted to investigate the substitution of carbohydrates with total fat, MUFA, PUFA, SFA and protein in regard to SAT, VAT and HL content. In more detail, to consider the quality of macronutrients, also the replacement of higher GI carbohydrates with low GI carbohydrates, plant- and animal-based protein and MUFA, n-3 and n-6 PUFA, as well as even-chain, odd-chain and very-long-chain SFA was examined.

The macronutrient intake was comparable between diabetes types, both reporting moderatelow carbohydrate (36-37 En%) and high fat intake (45-46 En%). In individuals with T1D, the replacement of carbohydrates with total fat was not associated with SAT, while substituting carbohydrates with protein was associated with higher SAT [β (95 % CI) per 5 En%: 3100 cm³ (25, 6200)]. Beyond that, the substitution of carbohydrates with fat or protein was not associated with VAT or HL content in individuals with T1D. In individuals with T2D, replacing carbohydrates with total fat or protein did not result in any association with SAT or VAT. respectively. However, substituting carbohydrates with MUFA was linked to higher VAT volume [per 5 En%: 1200 cm³ (230, 2200)], while the substitution with PUFA was associated with lower VAT volume in T2D [per 5 En%: -970 cm³ (-1900, -40)]. For HL content, similar findings were observed in T2D when carbohydrates were replaced with PUFA [per 5 En%: -3.3 % (-6.9, 0.4)]. Conversely, replacing carbohydrates with SFA was associated with higher HL content [per 5 En%: 2.4 % (-0.6, 5.4)]. More detailed analyses revealed that replacing higher GI carbohydrates with even-chain SFA was associated with higher HL content [per 1 En%: 1.4 % (-0.1, 3.4)], whereas a replacement with very-long-chain SFA or odd-chain SFA was linked to lower HL content [both per 0.1 En%: -3.6 % (-7.4, 0.3) and -2.7 % (-5.4, 0.0)]. Similarly, replacing carbohydrates with protein was associated with lower HL in T2D [per 5 En%: -2.4 % (-4.9, 0.0)], particularly due to plant-based protein [per 1 En%: -2.8 % (-4.8, -0.8)]. These findings indicate that not solely a restriction in carbohydrates, but also the quality of nutrients replaced for those carbohydrates may be essential for the accumulation of adipose tissue and HL content, particularly in individuals with T2D. Therefore, the integration of PUFAs, very-long-chain and odd-chain SFAs, as well as particularly plant-based proteins, seems to be beneficial in regard to VAT and HL content.

Chapter 5

Discussion



Key findings of this doctoral thesis

The projects included in this dissertation were designed to address three research aims, with the objective of providing further insights into the relationship between dietary intake of carbohydrates and sugar and diabetes prevention and management (see Chapter 1).

The key findings of this dissertation are as follows:

- Per capita sugar consumption was found to be globally associated with a higher prevalence of diabetes on an ecological level. This association can be explained to a large extent (approximately 66 %) by the indirect pathway via the BMI. Nevertheless, up to one-third of the association of the relationship between dietary sugar intake and diabetes can be attributed to other, potentially direct, mechanisms (98).
- 2) On an individual level, dietary sucrose intake assessed with questionnaires showed inverse, thus protective, associations, supporting the hypothesis that dietary sugar intake is underreported in self-reports. However, higher urinary sucrose levels were associated with a higher risk of T2D incidence. In mediation analysis, we found that approximately one-fifth of the association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence can be explained through overweight (BMI: 16 %, WC: 22 %). These findings align with our initial results and suggest that other mechanisms may influence the sugar-diabetes relationship (99).
- 3) The substitution analyses revealed that replacing carbohydrates with PUFA (both n-3 and n-6) was associated with lower VAT volumes and HL content, especially in individuals with T2D. Additionally in T2D, the substitution of higher GI carbohydrates with odd-chain and very-long-chain SFA, as well as plant-based protein, demonstrated an association with lower HL content. Consequently, it appears that not merely the restriction of carbohydrate intake is crucial for diabetes management, but rather the quality of the nutrients that are substituted for carbohydrates. The findings suggest that this is particularly essential in individuals with T2D (Lang et al. 2024, submitted).

Association between dietary sugar intake and risk of type 2 diabetes

As previously stated, the existing literature on the relationship between dietary sugar intake and the incidence of T2D is inconsistent. While the evidence from previous epidemiological studies is inconclusive in terms of the association between dietary sugar intake as mono- and disaccharides and the incidence of T2D (67), the impact of SSBs on T2D onset appears to be convincing. In this context, there is evidence that a higher intake of SSBs is linked to a 26 % higher risk of T2D per serving (66), which was rated with a high certainty of evidence (40). In contrast, a higher intake of total sugars, sucrose, fructose, glucose, maltose and lactose was



not or even inversely associated with the incidence of T2D (67, 68). However, these findings were rated with a low or very low certainty of evidence (40), and thus, it is very likely that future studies will change the effect estimates.

Nevertheless, there are potential explanations for the discrepancy in findings on SSBs and other sources of dietary sugar intake in the context of T2D development. Due to their liquid form, the consumption of SSBs results in a lower level of satiety than solid sugar-containing foods (100). In addition, the results of a feeding trial demonstrated that the intake of sugars consumed in a liquid state does not result in as much compensation in energy during subsequent meals as the intake of sugars consumed in a solid state, which may ultimately lead to an increase in energy intake and body weight (101). Moreover, the digestive process of liquids is more rapid than that of solid foods, as they do not require the mechanical digestion that occurs with solid foods. This results in a faster gastric emptying (102). Consequently, a higher intake of SSBs is associated with rapidly increased spikes of postprandial blood glucose and insulin levels (103). Beyond that, the consumption of SSBs has been demonstrated to have an addictive effect due to the activation of the dopaminergic reward systems (104). Additionally, evidence suggests that the addition of caffeine, which is a component of several common SSBs (e.g., soft drinks, energy drinks, sweetened coffee), can reinforce the consumption of SSBs in a manner that resembles addiction (105). Furthermore, a higher consumption of SSBs is typically associated with an overall less healthy lifestyle, including poor dietary choices and a sedentary lifestyle, particularly in adolescents (106, 107). Eventually, SSBs are often consumed in large quantities and thus contribute to a high dietary GL (108). Given that the majority of common SSBs are consumed in standardised portion sizes, SSB consumption may be less susceptible to reporting bias than other sugar sources that are typically assessed using dietary assessment methods based on self-reports.

In this context, previous studies have evaluated that particularly overweight participants tend to underreport their self-reported dietary sugar intake, especially for unhealthy foods (71, 72). Consequently, it is likely that that the aforementioned associations between dietary sugar intake and the incidence of T2D are significantly influenced by misreporting. In order to prevent reporting bias, it would be advisable to employ objectively measured dietary sugar intake when investigating this relationship. One potential approach would be to use aggregated data based on estimations and extrapolations. Upon consideration of aggregated supply data, the findings of our first project indicated that a daily increase of 100 kcal per capita sugar consumption was globally associated with a 1.6 % higher diabetes prevalence (98). These findings were similar to previous ecological studies that have investigated the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence (109, 110). However, it should be noted that the data quality of the aggregated data may vary between countries due to differences in surveillance

infrastructure, and thus, may not accurately reflect the actual dietary sugar intake on an individual level (111, 112).

In order to examine objectively measured dietary sugar intake on an individual level, biomarkers for sugar intake can be employed. Previous studies have demonstrated that using 24uSF is an appropriate approach to objectively measure dietary sugar intake, since there was a high correlation between the biomarker and the true dietary sugar intake in feeding trials (74-78). Consequently, the biomarker was validated considering specific biases (80). In a calibration study, self-reported dietary sugar intake was linked to a decreased risk of T2D; however, after applying an equation derived from the aforementioned validation study (80), the findings attenuated and this association no longer existed (113). The findings of our second project demonstrated comparable results. While dietary sucrose intake assessed with selfreports was associated with a lower risk of T2D, higher urinary sucrose levels pointed to a 14 % increased incidence of T2D per 100 µM (99). These findings are consistent with previous research investigating the relationship between dietary and urinary sugar and obesity, which has demonstrated a positive association between urinary biomarkers and obesity, whereas no association was observed for self-reported dietary sugar intake (81, 82). However, these findings are based on urinary sucrose biomarkers from spot urine samples, which have not yet been validated, and thus, may not be as reliable as 24uSF. Nevertheless, the findings on the association between urinary biomarker and obesity has been confirmed with similar findings in a study using the 24uSF (114).

Beyond that, there are further approaches besides urinary biomarkers to objectively measure dietary sugar intake. Previous studies have, for instance, also considered stable isotope ratios of carbon-13 and carbon-12 (δ 13C) as well as nitrogen-15 and nitrogen-14 (δ 15N) as potential dietary biomarkers measured in hair, capillary finger stick blood or blood serum (115). Findings from the multicentre PREMIER trial demonstrated that a reduction in self-reported SSB intake was associated with lower $\delta 13C$ over 18 months, suggesting that $\delta 13C$ may be a predictor for SSB intake (116). Moreover, there were found correlations between δ 13C levels and intake of SSBs and added sugar in cross-sectional studies with adult populations (117-120). Particularly in children δ 13C appears to be a promising objective biomarker for dietary sugar intake (121, 122). However, findings on δ 15N were inconclusive, showing a high correlation between δ 15N and dietary sugar intake in a native study population in Alaska (119), but no such association in another study population (118). In terms of T2D, a study conducted in the EPIC-Norfolk demonstrated that higher δ 15N levels were associated with a 23 % increased risk of T2D, while δ 13C showed an inverse association with T2D incidence (123). However, the reliability of these biomarkers as a predictor of dietary sugar intake is uncertain, as the authors observed a stronger correlation between the biomarkers and dietary fish and fish protein intakes than between the biomarkers and dietary sugars or SSBs (123). Therefore, further controlled


feeding studies are required to ascertain the validity of δ 13C and δ 15N as reliable biomarkers for dietary sugar intake.

Influence of the BMI on the association between sugar intake and type 2 diabetes

The question of whether dietary sugar intake represents a significant factor in the aetiology of T2D remains a topic of discussion in current research. While a substantial body of research has focused on dietary fat intake and total energy balance as the primary risk factors for obesity and T2D, some researchers have proposed alternative perspectives. In this context, statements have been published indicating that dietary sugar consumption has a greater impact on human health than merely providing empty calories (65), and that it has the potential to be toxic for human health, comparable with the impact of alcohol (124). In order to ascertain whether dietary sugars are more than just an excess of calories, it is necessary to investigate the influence of overweight and obesity on the pathway between dietary sugar intake and T2D onset.

In this context, previous studies investigated this association and added statistical models, in which they further adjusted for BMI. In the absence of BMI adjustment, previous studies have identified inverse or null associations between total sugar intake and the incidence of T2D (89-91, 125, 126). However, with the additional adjustment for BMI, inverse associations were no longer observed, and findings were attenuated (89-91), suggesting that particularly overweight and obese participants tended to underreport their dietary sugar intake. Moreover, a possible explanation would be that BMI may influence the association between dietary sugar intake and diabetes onset. However, this adjustment does not allow for the quantification of the influence of the BMI on this association. One approach to detect the influence of overweight and obesity on this association is the implementation of causal mediation analysis, which was previously described in detail in Chapter 1. Briefly, the total effect between dietary sugar intake and T2D onset is decomposed into the TIE via the causal pathway of overweight and obesity and the PDE, which represents the direct association independent of the influence of this pathway (94). As a result, the parameters provide information about the magnitude the association is driven by the mediator and the extent to which dietary sugar intake may directly influence the development of T2D.

In this context, the results of our ecological mediation analysis demonstrated that the proportion of the total effect of BMI on the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence that could be attributed to the indirect pathway was 66 % on a global level (Figure 3A) (98). According to these findings, this association is influenced by the BMI via the indirect pathway to a large extent. In this context, there is evidence that a higher dietary



sugar intake is leading to weight gain (85, 86), which is a risk factor for the development of T2D (87, 88). Nevertheless, up to 34 % of the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence can be attributed to other mechanisms. Beyond that, we found that the PM of the BMI and WC on the association between urinary sucrose and diabetes was found to be only 16 % and 22 % on an individual level (Figure 3B) (99). To the best of our knowledge, there is only one further study that recently has examined the mediation effect of BMI on the relationship between dietary sugar intake and diabetes in a Chinese population. In this study, the PM of BMI was 12 % (127), which is comparable with the findings of our prospective study. Although the authors reported that these findings were statistically significant, the reported effect sizes were very small (PDE: β = 0.0004 (95 % CI: 0.0001, 0.0006)). Nevertheless, these findings indicate that potentially direct sugar-related mechanisms are likely to play an essential role in the development of T2D. Therefore, it is important to elucidate which mechanisms may contribute to the relationship between dietary sugar and T2D.

In the first two projects included in this dissertation, the methodological approach of mediation analysis was applied. When conducting mediation analysis, some potential challenges must be taken into account. The required criteria for conducting a mediation analysis are presented in detail in Chapter 1. In summary, the exposure (e.g., dietary sugar intake) must be associated with both the mediator (e.g., BMI) and the outcome (e.g., incidence of T2D), and the mediator must be associated with the outcome. In order to simulate the causal pathways between exposure, mediator and outcome, data from three different time points should be incorporated (92). However, this aspect may be challenging depending on the data availability. Interestingly, the results of our mediation analyses demonstrated similar results, when using a time sequence of five years or the most recent available ecological data (project 1) or mediator assessed at baseline or a health check after three years (project 2).

One major challenge in the context of mediation analysis is confounding. In conventional effect estimations, it is necessary to adjust for confounding by all characteristics that exert an influence on both the exposure and the outcome (dietary sugar intake \rightarrow incidence of T2D). However, as the mediator is included as a third variable in addition to exposure and outcome, confounding can also occur in the relations between exposure and mediator (dietary sugar intake \rightarrow BMI) and mediator and outcome (BMI \rightarrow incidence of T2D) (93, 128). Therefore, it is particularly essential to adjust for potential confounding variables to avoid that the calculated mediated effect is biased by any confounders on the causal pathway. Nevertheless, unmeasured confounders are a potential risk of bias that should be considered in the implementation of mediation analyses and in the interpretation of their results (92, 128).





Figure 3: Summary of the findings of the mediation analyses (project 1 and 2) investigating the influence of BMI on the association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence (A) and the influence of BMI and WC on the association between urinary sucrose and incidence of type 2 diabetes (B). 95 % CI, 95 % confidence interval, β , beta coefficient; BMI, body mass index; HR, hazard ratio; WC, waist circumference;

The figure illustrates the associations between objectively assessed dietary sugar intake and diabetes prevalence or incidence (98, 99), which are decomposed into an indirect effect via the causal pathway of BMI/WC and a direct effect of sugar on diabetes prevalence or incidence. The proportion mediated is calculated as the quotient of the indirect effect and the total effect, indicating the extent to which the association is mediated by the indirect effect. Higher values (β >0, HR>1) indicate a higher diabetes prevalence or incidence.

Furthermore, it is important to mention that the use of mediation analyses is not only restricted to the research questions that were investigated in the presented studies. Mediation analysis can be applied to any associations, in which a third variable is influencing the examined relation in order to decompose the total effect into an indirect and direct effect. For example, it would be interesting to perform mediation analyses also in persons with diabetes to evaluate the relationship between the dietary intake and outcomes of diabetes progression (e.g., liver fat or CVD incidence) that may be mediated by a third variable (e.g., weight change, insulin resistance or inflammatory biomarkers). Consequently, the application of mediation analysis should be considered in forthcoming research.

Potential direct sugar-related mechanisms

In addition to the aforementioned indirect causal pathway via overweight and obesity resulting from solely an excess of energy intake, several other mechanisms may explain the association between dietary sugar intake and the onset of diabetes (Figure 4).

First of all, a higher intake of dietary sugar has the potential to exert a direct impact on glucose metabolism, as studies have shown that foods containing added sugar, or particularly SSBs, induce rapid spikes in blood glucose levels and consequently lead to increased insulin secretion (108, 129). A sustained intake of foods containing added sugars can result in a reduction in insulin sensitivity (130), which may ultimately lead to the development of T2D (131). Furthermore, foods containing added sugars typically have a medium to high GI value (50, 132), and due to their large quantities, which they are often ingested in, they can contribute to a high GL (108). In this context, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of large prospective cohort studies has demonstrated that foods with a high GI and GL are associated with a 27 % and 15 % increased risk of T2D, respectively (53). Moreover, these results indicated that higher GI foods are risk factors for CVD, mortality and cancer.

In addition, dietary sugar intake has an impact on the liver due to the metabolism of fructose (108). Sucrose, the commercially available form of sugar typically referred to as "table sugar", consists the two components sucrose and fructose. Particularly the latter can play an essential role in the development of liver fat. In general, fructose is metabolised by the liver into glucose, lactate and fatty acids for use as metabolic substrates, when consumed at moderate quantities (133). However, excessive fructose intake causes an increased hepatic de novo lipogenesis, which can subsequently lead to dyslipidaemia and insulin resistance (134, 135). As a result of this, triglyceride and cholesterol levels may increase, which can result in an elevated accumulation of VAT and ectopic lipids, and ultimately, the development of MASLD (108, 135). In this context, it has been shown that there is a bidirectional association between MASLD and T2D (21, 131). On the one hand, higher accumulations of liver fat can contribute to the development of T2D by inducing insulin resistance, metabolic dysfunction, and releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and hepatokines (20, 136). On the other hand, diabetes can also lead to an enlargement of liver fat content due to hyperglycaemia and dyslipidaemia (21, 136). The reality is likely to be a complex interplay of both mechanisms, occurring simultaneously (136).

Furthermore, an excess of fructose intake has been demonstrated to promote hepatic uric acid production, which has been linked to the development of gout (137). Previous research has identified that both gout and hyperuricemia are risk factors for T2D, CVD, and hypertension (138, 139).



Figure 4: Pathophysiological mechanisms for dietary sugar intake and the development of type 2 diabetes. Reused with permission and modified after Malik 2022 (108)

Ultimately, the consumption of sugar-containing products has the potential to induce addictive effects due to the intense release of opioids and the activation of the dopaminergic reward system in the brain (104). This can trigger addictive-like behaviours, including cravings, bingeing and withdrawal, which may ultimately lead to excessive consumption of sugar (104, 140). As a consequence, an overconsumption of sugar containing products may occur, which may eventually result in overweight and obesity (108).

Carbohydrate substitution in diabetes management

The aforementioned findings demonstrated that objectively measured dietary sugar intake can play a crucial role in the prevention of T2D onset. Beyond that, dietary modifications have also



the potential to prevent the progression of diabetes, and thus, represent a cornerstone in the management of both T1D and T2D. In general, it is recommended that overweight and obese individuals with T2D reduce their daily total energy intake by 500-600 kcal (32), which is thought to result in weight loss (42). In addition to energy restriction, the nutrient composition of the diet may also be an important factor in managing diabetes. Recent guidelines have emphasized the potential benefits of a diet rich in MUFAs and PUFAs, particularly n-3 PUFAs, for individuals with diabetes (33, 42). Moreover, it is recommended that the consumption of simple and refined carbohydrates (e.g., sugar-containing products) should be minimized, with a greater emphasis placed on the intake of high-fibre and low GI foods (32, 33, 42). In this context, findings from previous RCTs demonstrated that a restriction of carbohydrates may be an effective approach to prevent diabetes progression, as it was associated with the reduction of body weight, HbA1c levels, and a more beneficial blood lipid profile (45). However, when carbohydrate intake is reduced without simultaneously restricting total energy intake, there is an increase of the compensatory intake of fat and protein. This may have consequences for the body fat distribution, which was investigated in the third project (Lang 2024, submitted).

In examining the role of dietary carbohydrates, it is crucial to consider not only the quantity but also the quality of the consumed carbohydrates. This can be achieved by differentiating between higher and low GI carbohydrates, as described in detail in chapter 1. In summary, foods with a higher GI induce the postprandial glycaemic response and, as a result, represent a potential risk factor for the development of comorbidities (49). Surprisingly, we observed no association when replacing higher GI carbohydrates with low GI carbohydrates in regard to SAT and VAT volumes in our study, for both individuals with T1D and T2D. However, the intake of higher GI carbohydrates was relatively high in this cohort, and it is possible that reporting bias may have occurred, particularly for unhealthy foods (e.g., sweets), which are typically often underreported (71, 72).

A reduction in carbohydrate intake may result in an increase in fat or protein intake, which could subsequently affect metabolic health. To date, only one previous cross-sectional study has investigated the substitution of carbohydrates with fat in relation to body fat composition in the general population. In this study, the replacement of carbohydrates with total fat was associated with higher VAT volumes and hepatic fat content (141). In contrast to these findings, no association was identified in our study between the replacement of carbohydrates with total fat and any of the outcomes, in both individuals with T1D or T2D. However, our findings indicated that the substitution of (higher GI) carbohydrates with MUFA (both animal- and plant-based) was linked to higher VAT volumes, while the substitution with (even-chain) SFA was associated with higher HL content in individuals with T2D. In contrast, we observed lower VAT volumes and HL content when replacing (higher GI) carbohydrates with PUFAs (both n-3 and n-6), odd-chain and very-long-chain SFAs and (plant-based) protein, particularly in individuals



with T2D (Table 2). A comprehensive comparison with existing evidence on macronutrient intake was previously described in detail in Chapter 4.

Isocaloric replacement of	with	Type 1 diabetes			Type 2 diabetes		
		SAT	VAT	HL	SAT	VAT	HL
Carbohydrates	total fat	→	→	→	→	→	→
	MUFA	→	→	→	→	1	→
	PUFA		→		2	\mathbf{V}	↓
	SFA	7	→			2	7
	protein	^	→	→	7	→	↓
Higher GI carbohydrates	low GI carbohydrates	+	→	→	+	→	→
	animal-based MUFA	7	→	→	→	1	→
	plant-based MUFA	2	→	→	→	7	→
	n-6 PUFA	→	→	→	→	2	N
	n-3 PUFA		2		2	2	3
	even-chain SFA	7	→	→	7	→	1
	very-long-chain SFA	$\mathbf{\Psi}$	2	→	→	3	↓
	odd-chain SFA	→	2	→	→	3	↓
	animal-based protein	7	→	→	1	→	3
	plant-based protein	3	3				↓

Table 2: Summary of the substitution analysis (project 3) investigating the replacement of carbohydrates with fat and protein and higher glycemic index carbohydrates with subtypes of fat and protein in association with SAT, VAT and HL content individuals with T1D and T2D

GI, glycaemic index; HL, hepatic lipid; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid ;n-3, omega-3; n-6, omega-6; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue; SFA, saturated fatty acid; T1D, type 1 diabetes; T2D, type 2 diabetes; VAT, visceral adipose tissue;

These findings indicate that not solely the reduction of carbohydrates, but also the quality of the substitutes may play an important role for body fat distribution in individuals with diabetes. In this context, differences in macronutrient quality are also dependent on the food sources from which they are derived. The sources of the identified beneficial nutrients are as follows: PUFAs are primarily found in vegetable oils, fish, nuts and seeds (142, 143), very-long-chain SFAs in nuts, peanut butter and canola oil (144, 145), odd-chain SFAs in milk and dairy products (146), and common sources of plant-based proteins are grains, legumes, nuts and seeds, and soy products (147). In this context, it would also be feasible to implement food substitution models based on the quantity of food intake, which can be measured in terms of weight, volume, or servings (e.g., replacing 50 g of sweets with 50 g of nuts). However, like any method, food substitution models (both based on energy and quantity) also have their challenges and limitations that should be taken into account when applied.

Food substitution models based on food groups have the advantage of modelling the data as it is reported, thereby reflecting the quantities in which the food is generally consumed. In an isocaloric context (e.g., replacing 5 En% carbohydrates with 5 En% total fat), a substitution may result in discrepancies in the quantity of the substituted nutrient components, whereas



substitutions based on the quantities of foods with different energy contents (e.g., replacing 150 g of processed red meat with 150 g of poultry) are accompanied by a residual difference in energy intake. In this case, the substitution of processed red meat would result in a difference in energy intake of 170 kcal (96). Such discrepancies can impact the findings and thus need to be considered when determining the appropriate method for addressing the respective research question. In addition, potential reporting bias may be present due to measurement errors in the assessment of dietary intake, which can also influence the results (96, 97).

Furthermore, the choice of confounders in food substitution models can also be challenging. Potential socioeconomic and health-related confounding variables should be selected a priori based on the literature or using directed acyclic graphs (96). Additionally, food substitution models need to be adjusted for total energy intake and isocaloric substitutions need to be further controlled for all the other food components besides the two substitutes (96, 97). In substitutions based on food groups, it may be advisable to select additional dietary confounders that are associated with the consumption of the examined substitutes, as they are frequently consumed with the substituted foods. In this example, an additional adjustment for potatoes (often consumed with red meat) and rice (often consumed with poultry) may provide a more accurate representation of the dietary changes (96). However, at this point it should be noted that certain food selections are associated with specific health behaviours. For example, the consumption of poultry is generally associated with a healthier lifestyle than the consumption of red meat (97). Consequently, the substitution effect may not be fully explained by the replacement of red meat with poultry, but may also reflect an overall healthy lifestyle. It is therefore recommended to show both effect estimates with and without additional adjustment for other food groups (96).

Moreover, it is important to note that these food substitution models are based on observational data and therefore do not involve actual food replacements in the study participants (96, 97). It is therefore important to distinguish the results of epidemiological food substitution models from the findings of RCTs. Epidemiological food substitution models are a theoretical approach to mimic the replacement in feeding studies using observational data, while in actual feeding trials one food component is in fact replaced by another component as part of an intervention (148, 149). Nevertheless, investigating long-term clinically relevant outcomes (e.g., T2D incidence or mortality) is very difficult to accomplish in RCTs, as they are costly, time-intensive and do not investigate these associations in real-world conditions (150, 151). Consequently, substitution analyses using observational data have increasingly become a well-established approach in nutrition epidemiology (96, 97), with a growing number of studies published in recent years (152-154).



Nevertheless, the number of substitution analyses carried out in individuals with diabetes is still limited. Therefore, future research could undertake comprehensive substitution analyses using prospective data from large cohort studies comprising participants with diabetes. In this context, two prospective studies using data from 15 EPIC centres investigated the isocaloric substitution of carbohydrates with fat (total fat, MUFA, PUFA and SFA) or protein (total protein, animal-based, plant-based) with regard to all-cause and CVD mortality risk and 5-year weight change in individuals with T2D (155, 156). However, it would also be of interest to examine these associations in other large cohorts outside of Europe and additionally with a more detailed consideration of macronutrient quality. Beyond that, future studies should investigate the replacement of carbohydrates with fat and protein (and their subtypes) in relation to HbA1c or diabetes-related complications and comorbidities, such as the incidence of CVD, nephropathy, depression, cognitive disorders, and cancer.

Beyond that, it is also possible to combine both approaches of mediation and substitution analysis. As with all observational analyses, food substitution models may not only include potential confounders, but also variables that are potentially mediating the investigated association, since they are on the causal pathway between exposure (food substitution) and outcome (96). For example, the substitution of animal-based foods with plant-based foods may result in weight loss or a reduction of inflammation, which is associated with a lower risk of CVD in individuals with diabetes. In this case, it would be of interest to ascertain the extent to which the association between the replacement of animal-based foods with plant-based foods may be explained through the change in weight or inflammation (indirect effect), or if the substitution itself led to a risk reduction (direct effect). To address this question, it would be advisable to include data from three different time points (dietary data – mediator – outcome). However, no mediation analysis of food substitution models has yet been conducted. Therefore, future research should consider performing such analyses to gain further insight into diet-disease relations.

Strengths and limitations

A comprehensive discussion of the specific strengths and limitations of each project has already been carried out in the chapters 2-4. Within this section, the general strengths and limitations of this dissertation will be addressed.

There are several strengths of the studies that were included in this dissertation. Within all three projects, innovative methodological approaches in nutritional epidemiology, such as mediation and substitution analysis, have been applied to investigate the relation between dietary carbohydrates or sugar intake and diabetes. This was the first time that causal mediation analyses were conducted to investigate the indirect impact of obesity on the



association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes using aggregated ecological data and on an individual level using data from a prospective cohort study. Moreover, an objective biomarker for sugar intake was employed in the latter study. Furthermore, this was to our knowledge the first investigation, in which the substitution of carbohydrates with other macronutrients in regard to body fat distribution and liver fat was examined in individuals with recently diagnosed T1D and T2D. Here, the outcomes were comprehensively measured using MRI or ¹H-MRS, and the quality of macronutrient intake was also taken into account.

However, it should be noted that these studies have certain limitations. First, since findings of the studies are based on ecological and aggregated data (project 1) or observational data (projects 2 and 3), it is not possible to draw any conclusions about causality. Therefore, it is possible that bias due to confounding may have occurred and influenced the direction and magnitude of the observed associations. However, in all of these three studies, analyses were adjusted for a comprehensive set of potential a priori defined confounders that were obtained from reliable global organisations (project 1) or established cohort studies using validated assessment methods (projects 2 and 3). The adjustment for socioeconomic and health-related covariates was intended to minimise the risk of confounding. Nevertheless, it is possible that residual confounding due to unmeasured or imperfectly measured covariates may still affect the results. Consequently, further prospective studies are required to confirm the results of our studies. Second, since the studies investigated data on dietary intake, reporting bias cannot be ruled out. In our first project per capita sugar consumption was based on food supply data from the FAO, which are mainly based on estimations of national statistical offices. Consequently, they may not reflect the actual intake of an individual (111). However, these data were adjusted for exports and any kind of non-human consumption. In the observational studies (project 2 and 3), dietary intake was assessed with questionnaires based on selfreports (FFQ or 7DD), which can lead to measurement errors, particularly in overweight and obese individuals (71, 72). Nevertheless, these questionnaires are validated and in project 2, sucrose intake was also objectively assessed with urinary sucrose, which is less likely prone to reporting bias. Finally, it is possible that selection bias may be present in the observational studies. Both the EPIC-Norfolk and the GDS include participants who adhere to a healthy lifestyle to a large extent (157, 158). Moreover, the EPIC-Norfolk study population is comprised of individuals of advanced age. Additionally, due to the comprehensive GDS study protocol, certain population groups (e.g., individuals with poor glycaemic control or psychiatric disorders) were excluded from study participation (159). In conclusion, it must be acknowledged that the findings may not be fully transferable to the general population (project 2) and to all individuals with diabetes (project 3), respectively.



Implications for public health and future research

The findings of this dissertation indicated that dietary intake of carbohydrates and sugars may play an essential role in the prevention and management of diabetes.

Previous research has shown that dietary sugar intake was not or even inversely associated with the risk of T2D (67). However, the findings of the studies included in this dissertation demonstrated that an objectively measured sugar intake, assessed via aggregated data or urinary sucrose biomarker, was positively associated with the onset of diabetes (98, 99). These findings support the hypothesis that dietary sugar intake assessed by self-reports is prone to reporting bias, particularly in the underreporting of sugar-containing foods (71, 72). It is therefore recommended that future studies account for objectively measured sugar biomarkers in order to expand the existing body of research on the association between unbiased dietary sugar intake and the incidence of T2D. In this context, the reliability of urinary sucrose from spot urine samples has not yet been validated, and thus, feeding studies are required to prove the validity of urinary biomarkers from spot urine samples in comparison to 24uSF. Nevertheless, our findings suggest that a reduction in dietary sugar intake may be beneficial in preventing the development of T2D. To date, several societies and associations, such as the WHO, have recommended a reduction of free sugars to <10 En % for both adults and children due to its adverse effects on weight gain and dental caries (63, 64). Future studies relying on objectively measured sugar intake should investigate whether a reduction of free and added sugars also prevents the onset of T2D. In addition, further research is needed to investigate direct mechanisms of dietary sugar intake in relation to the development of T2D.

Furthermore, macronutrient intake and its quality have been identified as important factors in the management of diabetes (Lang 2024, *submitted*). In this context, previous findings have indicated that a reduction in carbohydrate intake may be a promising approach for individuals with diabetes to prevent disease progression (45). On the one hand, this may result in a reduction in total energy intake, which is recommended for obese individuals with T2D (32). On the other hand, this may lead to a compensatory higher intake of fat or protein, which can be investigated through substitution analysis. In this context, the findings of our study indicated that the implementation of PUFAs, odd-chain and very-long-chain SFAs, as well as plant-based proteins into the diet of individuals with T2D. However, evidence on the substitution of carbohydrates with other macronutrients in regard to markers of diabetes management and progression (e.g., HbA1c, blood glucose, CVD, nephropathy) is still limited in both individuals with T1D and T2D. Consequently, further evidence from both RCTs and observational studies in individuals with diabetes is required in order to gain further insight into this relationship. In order to ultimately draw conclusions for public health recommendations, systematic reviews



and meta-analyses of substitution analysis in individuals with diabetes are needed. Furthermore, future research should consider combining substitution and mediation analysis, to evaluate to what extent the relationship between replacing carbohydrates and health outcomes can be explained by substitution effect (direct effect) or by the influence of a third, mediating variable (indirect effect).

Conclusions

In conclusion, this dissertation provides insights into the relationship between dietary sugar intake and T2D onset, both on a global and on an individual level. The findings of this dissertation indicated that objectively measured sugar intake was associated with higher prevalence and incidence of diabetes. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that overweight and obesity partially influence the association between dietary sugar intake and diabetes, but other potentially direct sugar-related mechanisms may also play an essential role in the development of T2D.

Furthermore, this dissertation emphasises the importance of macronutrient quality in diabetes management. It is not solely a restriction in carbohydrate intake, but also a change towards a higher consumption of PUFAs, odd-chain and very-long-chain SFAs, as well as plant-based protein instead of high GI carbohydrates that appears to be beneficial for body and liver fat accumulation, particularly in individuals with T2D.

In conclusion, this dissertation highlights the importance of dietary carbohydrate and sugar intake in the context of diabetes prevention and management. However, conclusions regarding causality are limited due to the observational study designs, and thus, further prospective studies are required to confirm these findings. Ultimately, in order to publish public health recommendations in evidence-based guidelines, meta-analyses based on these prospective studies need to be conducted.



References

- 1. Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2017;389(10085):2239-51.
- 2. 2. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2024. Diabetes Care. 2024;47(Suppl 1):S20-s42.
- 3. Sun H, Saeedi P, Karuranga S, Pinkepank M, Ogurtsova K, Duncan BB, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global, regional and country-level diabetes prevalence estimates for 2021 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2022;183:109119.
- 4. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 10th edn. Brussels, Belgium. 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.diabetesatlas.org</u>.
- 5. Hilfe DDGDudDD. Deutscher Gesundheitsbericht Diabetes 2024. Die Bestandsaufnahme. 2023.
- 6. Syed FZ. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Ann Intern Med. 2022;175(3):Itc33-itc48.
- 7. Zheng Y, Ley SH, Hu FB. Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018;14(2):88-98.
- 8. World Health Organization (WHO). Classification of diabetes 2019. Geneva; 2019.
- 9. Tamayo T, Brinks R, Hoyer A, Kuß OS, Rathmann W. The Prevalence and Incidence of Diabetes in Germany. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2016;113(11):177-82.
- 10. Chandrasekaran P, Weiskirchen R. The Role of Obesity in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus-An Overview. Int J Mol Sci. 2024;25(3).
- 11. Kueh MTW, Chew NWS, Al-Ozairi E, le Roux CW. The emergence of obesity in type 1 diabetes. Int J Obes (Lond). 2024;48(3):289-301.
- 12. Harding JL, Pavkov ME, Magliano DJ, Shaw JE, Gregg EW. Global trends in diabetes complications: a review of current evidence. Diabetologia. 2019;62(1):3-16.
- 13. Einarson TR, Acs A, Ludwig C, Panton UH. Prevalence of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review of scientific evidence from across the world in 2007-2017. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2018;17(1):83.
- 14. The Emerging Risk Factors C. Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. The Lancet. 2010;375(9733):2215-22.
- 15. Taylor KS, Heneghan CJ, Farmer AJ, Fuller AM, Adler AI, Aronson JK, et al. All-cause and cardiovascular mortality in middle-aged people with type 2 diabetes compared with people without diabetes in a large U.K. primary care database. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(8):2366-71.
- 16. Yau JW, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, et al. Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(3):556-64.
- 17. Narres M, Kvitkina T, Claessen H, Droste S, Schuster B, Morbach S, et al. Incidence of lower extremity amputations in the diabetic compared with the non-diabetic population: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):e0182081.
- 18. Shen Y, Cai R, Sun J, Dong X, Huang R, Tian S, et al. Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for incident chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease in women compared with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endocrine. 2017;55(1):66-76.
- 19. Fox CS, Matsushita K, Woodward M, Bilo HJ, Chalmers J, Heerspink HJ, et al. Associations of kidney disease measures with mortality and end-stage renal disease in individuals with and without diabetes: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;380(9854):1662-73.
- 20. Mantovani A, Petracca G, Beatrice G, Tilg H, Byrne CD, Targher G. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident diabetes mellitus: an updated meta-analysis of 501 022 adult individuals. Gut. 2021;70(5):962-9.
- 21. Tilg H, Moschen AR, Roden M. NAFLD and diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;14(1):32-42.

- 22. Younossi ZM, Golabi P, de Avila L, Paik JM, Srishord M, Fukui N, et al. The global epidemiology of NAFLD and NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hepatol. 2019;71(4):793-801.
- 23. Nouwen A, Winkley K, Twisk J, Lloyd CE, Peyrot M, Ismail K, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for the onset of depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Diabetologia. 2010;53(12):2480-6.
- 24. Trikkalinou A, Papazafiropoulou AK, Melidonis A. Type 2 diabetes and quality of life. World J Diabetes. 2017;8(4):120-9.
- 25. Tsilidis KK, Kasimis JC, Lopez DS, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Type 2 diabetes and cancer: umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. Bmj. 2015;350:g7607.
- 26. Wang Y, O'Neil A, Jiao Y, Wang L, Huang J, Lan Y, et al. Sex differences in the association between diabetes and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 5,162,654 participants. BMC Med. 2019;17(1):136.
- 27. Jacobs E, Hoyer A, Brinks R, Kuss O, Rathmann W. Burden of Mortality Attributable to Diagnosed Diabetes: A Nationwide Analysis Based on Claims Data From 65 Million People in Germany. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(12):1703-9.
- 28. Scott RA, Langenberg C, Sharp SJ, Franks PW, Rolandsson O, Drogan D, et al. The link between family history and risk of type 2 diabetes is not explained by anthropometric, lifestyle or genetic risk factors: the EPIC-InterAct study. Diabetologia. 2013;56(1):60-9.
- 29. Agardh E, Allebeck P, Hallqvist J, Moradi T, Sidorchuk A. Type 2 diabetes incidence and socio-economic position: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40(3):804-18.
- 30. Meeks KA, Freitas-Da-Silva D, Adeyemo A, Beune EJ, Modesti PA, Stronks K, et al. Disparities in type 2 diabetes prevalence among ethnic minority groups resident in Europe: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intern Emerg Med. 2016;11(3):327-40.
- 31. Schlesinger S, Neuenschwander M, Ballon A, Nöthlings U, Barbaresko J. Adherence to healthy lifestyles and incidence of diabetes and mortality among individuals with diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2020;74(5):481-7.
- 32. International Diabetes Federation. Recommendations For Managing Type 2 Diabetes In Primary Care, 2017. Available from: www.idf.org/managing-type2-diabetes.
- ElSayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 5.
 Facilitating Positive Health Behaviors and Well-being to Improve Health Outcomes: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2023. Diabetes Care. 2023;46(Supple 1):S68-s96.
- 34. Pan A, Wang Y, Talaei M, Hu FB, Wu T. Relation of active, passive, and quitting smoking with incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(12):958-67.
- 35. Pan A, Wang Y, Talaei M, Hu FB. Relation of Smoking With Total Mortality and Cardiovascular Events Among Patients With Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Circulation. 2015;132(19):1795-804.
- 36. Aune D, Norat T, Leitzmann M, Tonstad S, Vatten LJ. Physical activity and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015;30(7):529-42.
- 37. Rietz M, Lehr A, Mino E, Lang A, Szczerba E, Schiemann T, et al. Physical Activity and Risk of Major Diabetes-Related Complications in Individuals With Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Diabetes Care. 2022;45(12):3101-11.
- 38. Balshem H, Helfand M, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(4):401-6.
- 39. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Vist GE, Liberati A, et al. Going from evidence to recommendations. Bmj. 2008;336(7652):1049-51.

- 40. Neuenschwander M, Ballon A, Weber KS, Norat T, Aune D, Schwingshackl L, et al. Role of diet in type 2 diabetes incidence: umbrella review of meta-analyses of prospective observational studies. Bmj. 2019;366:I2368.
- 41. Neuenschwander M, Stadelmaier J, Eble J, Grummich K, Szczerba E, Kiesswetter E, et al. Substitution of animal-based with plant-based foods on cardiometabolic health and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. BMC Med. 2023;21(1):404.
- 42. Evidence-based European recommendations for the dietary management of diabetes. Diabetologia. 2023;66(6):965-85.
- 43. Skurk T, Bosy-Westphal A, Grünerbel A, Kabisch S, Keuthage W, Kronsbein P, et al. Dietary recommendations for persons with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2022;130(S 01):S151-s84.
- 44. Barbaresko J, Lang A, Szczerba E, Baechle C, Beckhaus J, Schwingshackl L, et al. Dietary Factors and All-Cause Mortality in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Observational Studies. Diabetes Care. 2023;46(2):469-77.
- 45. Szczerba E, Barbaresko J, Schiemann T, Stahl-Pehe A, Schwingshackl L, Schlesinger S. Diet in the management of type 2 diabetes: umbrella review of systematic reviews with meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ Med. 2023;2(1):e000664.
- 46. Goldenberg JZ, Day A, Brinkworth GD, Sato J, Yamada S, Jönsson T, et al. Efficacy and safety of low and very low carbohydrate diets for type 2 diabetes remission: systematic review and meta-analysis of published and unpublished randomized trial data. Bmj. 2021;372:m4743.
- 47. Ludwig DS, Hu FB, Tappy L, Brand-Miller J. Dietary carbohydrates: role of quality and quantity in chronic disease. Bmj. 2018;361:k2340.
- 48. Bell KJ, Smart CE, Steil GM, Brand-Miller JC, King B, Wolpert HA. Impact of fat, protein, and glycemic index on postprandial glucose control in type 1 diabetes: implications for intensive diabetes management in the continuous glucose monitoring era. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(6):1008-15.
- 49. Augustin LSA, Kendall CWC, Jenkins DJA, Willett WC, Astrup A, Barclay AW, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load and glycemic response: An International Scientific Consensus Summit from the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC). Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2015;25(9):795-815.
- 50. Atkinson FS, Brand-Miller JC, Foster-Powell K, Buyken AE, Goletzke J. International tables of glycemic index and glycemic load values 2021: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;114(5):1625-32.
- 51. Atkinson FS, Foster-Powell K, Brand-Miller JC. International tables of glycemic index and glycemic load values: 2008. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(12):2281-3.
- 52. Livesey G, Taylor R, Livesey HF, Buyken AE, Jenkins DJA, Augustin LSA, et al. Dietary Glycemic Index and Load and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Updated Meta-Analyses of Prospective Cohort Studies. Nutrients. 2019;11(6).
- 53. Jenkins DJA, Willett WC, Yusuf S, Hu FB, Glenn AJ, Liu S, et al. Association of glycaemic index and glycaemic load with type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis of mega cohorts of more than 100 000 participants. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2024;12(2):107-18.
- 54. Bhupathiraju SN, Tobias DK, Malik VS, Pan A, Hruby A, Manson JE, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of type 2 diabetes: results from 3 large US cohorts and an updated meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;100(1):218-32.
- 55. Neuenschwander M, Hoffmann G, Schwingshackl L, Schlesinger S. Impact of different dietary approaches on blood lipid control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2019;34(9):837-52.
- 56. Ojo O, Ojo OO, Wang XH, Adegboye ARA. The Effects of a Low GI Diet on Cardiometabolic and Inflammatory Parameters in Patients with Type 2 and Gestational Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. Nutrients. 2019;11(7).

- 57. Schwingshackl L, Chaimani A, Hoffmann G, Schwedhelm C, Boeing H. A network meta-analysis on the comparative efficacy of different dietary approaches on glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(2):157-70.
- 58. Chiavaroli L, Lee D, Ahmed A, Cheung A, Khan TA, Blanco S, et al. Effect of low glycaemic index or load dietary patterns on glycaemic control and cardiometabolic risk factors in diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Bmj. 2021;374:n1651.
- 59. Walton J, Bell H, Re R, Nugent AP. Current perspectives on global sugar consumption: definitions, recommendations, population intakes, challenges and future direction. Nutr Res Rev. 2023;36(1):1-22.
- 60. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Food Agriculture Organization (FAO) Agriculture Outlook 2021–2030. Retrieved from https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/969526b0-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/969526b0-en/. Accessed March 11 2024.
- 61. Wittekind A, Walton J. Worldwide trends in dietary sugars intake. Nutr Res Rev. 2014;27(2):330-45.
- 62. Food Agriculture Organization. FAOSTAT. Food Balances (2010-). 2021. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS</u>. Accessed 25 Jun 2024.
- 63. Guideline: Sugars intake for adults and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 64. Ernst JB, Arens-Azevêdo U, Bitzer B, Bosy-Westphal A, de Zwaan M, Egert S, Fritsche A, Gerlach S, Hauner H, Heseker H, Koletzko B, Müller-Wieland D, Schulze M, Virmani K, Watzl B, Buyken AE for the German Obesity Society (DAG), German Diabetes Society (DDG) and German Nutrition Society (DGE). Quantitative recommendation on sugar intake in Germany. Short version of the consensus paper by the German Obesity Society (DAG), German Diabetes Society (DAG), German Diabetes Society (DAG), German Diabetes Society (DDG) and German Nutrition Society (DGE). Ernahrungs Umschau. 2019; 66(2): 26–34.
- 65. Taubes G. What if sugar is worse than just empty calories? An essay by Gary Taubes. Bmj. 2018;360:j5808.
- 66. Imamura F, O'Connor L, Ye Z, Mursu J, Hayashino Y, Bhupathiraju SN, et al. Consumption of sugar sweetened beverages, artificially sweetened beverages, and fruit juice and incidence of type 2 diabetes: systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimation of population attributable fraction. Bmj. 2015;351:h3576.
- 67. Tsilas CS, de Souza RJ, Mejia SB, Mirrahimi A, Cozma AI, Jayalath VH, et al. Relation of total sugars, fructose and sucrose with incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Cmaj. 2017;189(20):E711-e20.
- 68. Alhazmi A, Štojanovski E, McEvoy M, Garg ML. Macronutrient intakes and development of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Am Coll Nutr. 2012;31(4):243-58.
- 69. Willett W. Nutritional Epidemiology: Oxford University Press. 2012. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199754038.001.0001.
- 70. Ravelli MN, Schoeller DA. Traditional Self-Reported Dietary Instruments Are Prone to Inaccuracies and New Approaches Are Needed. Front Nutr. 2020;7:90.
- 71. Gottschald M, Knüppel S, Boeing H, Buijsse B. The influence of adjustment for energy misreporting on relations of cake and cookie intake with cardiometabolic disease risk factors. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2016;70(11):1318-24.
- 72. Lutomski JE, van den Broeck J, Harrington J, Shiely F, Perry IJ. Sociodemographic, lifestyle, mental health and dietary factors associated with direction of misreporting of energy intake. Public Health Nutr. 2011;14(3):532-41.
- 73. Luceri C, Caderni G, Lodovici M, Spagnesi MT, Monserrat C, Lancioni L, et al. Urinary excretion of sucrose and fructose as a predictor of sucrose intake in dietary intervention studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1996;5(3):167-71.
- 74. Tasevska N, Runswick SA, McTaggart A, Bingham SA. Urinary sucrose and fructose as biomarkers for sugar consumption. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2005;14(5):1287-94.
- 75. Moore LB, Liu SV, Halliday TM, Neilson AP, Hedrick VE, Davy BM. Urinary Excretion of Sodium, Nitrogen, and Sugar Amounts Are Valid Biomarkers of Dietary Sodium,



Protein, and High Sugar Intake in Nonobese Adolescents. J Nutr. 2017;147(12):2364-73.

- 76. Tasevska N, Sagi-Kiss V, Palma-Duran SA, Barrett B, Chaloux M, Commins J, et al. Investigating the performance of 24-h urinary sucrose and fructose as a biomarker of total sugars intake in US participants - a controlled feeding study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;114(2):721-30.
- 77. Abreu TC, Hulshof PJM, Boshuizen HC, Trijsburg L, Gray N, de Vries JHM. Validity Coefficient of Repeated Measurements of Urinary Marker of Sugar Intake Is Comparable to Urinary Nitrogen as Marker of Protein Intake in Free-living Subjects. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2021;30(1):193-202.
- 78. Joosen AM, Kuhnle GG, Runswick SA, Bingham SA. Urinary sucrose and fructose as biomarkers of sugar consumption: comparison of normal weight and obese volunteers. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32(11):1736-40.
- 79. Tasevska N, Midthune D, Tinker LF, Potischman N, Lampe JW, Neuhouser ML, et al. Use of a urinary sugars biomarker to assess measurement error in self-reported sugars intake in the nutrition and physical activity assessment study (NPAAS). Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2014;23(12):2874-83.
- 80. Tasevska N, Midthune D, Potischman N, Subar AF, Cross AJ, Bingham SA, et al. Use of the predictive sugars biomarker to evaluate self-reported total sugars intake in the Observing Protein and Energy Nutrition (OPEN) study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2011;20(3):490-500.
- 81. Bingham S, Luben R, Welch A, Tasevska N, Wareham N, Khaw KT. Epidemiologic assessment of sugars consumption using biomarkers: comparisons of obese and nonobese individuals in the European prospective investigation of cancer Norfolk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2007;16(8):1651-4.
- 82. Kuhnle GG, Tasevska N, Lentjes MA, Griffin JL, Sims MA, Richardson L, et al. Association between sucrose intake and risk of overweight and obesity in a prospective sub-cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk). Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(15):2815-24.
- 83. Ramne S, Gray N, Hellstrand S, Brunkwall L, Enhörning S, Nilsson PM, et al. Comparing Self-Reported Sugar Intake With the Sucrose and Fructose Biomarker From Overnight Urine Samples in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk Factors. Front Nutr. 2020;7:62.
- 84. Intemann T, Pigeot I, De Henauw S, Eiben G, Lissner L, Krogh V, et al. Urinary sucrose and fructose to validate self-reported sugar intake in children and adolescents: results from the I.Family study. Eur J Nutr. 2019;58(3):1247-58.
- 85. Huang Y, Chen Z, Chen B, Li J, Yuan X, Li J, et al. Dietary sugar consumption and health: umbrella review. Bmj. 2023;381:e071609.
- 86. Te Morenga L, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. Bmj. 2012;346:e7492.
- 87. Abdullah A, Peeters A, de Courten M, Stoelwinder J. The magnitude of association between overweight and obesity and the risk of diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010;89(3):309-19.
- 88. Jayedi A, Soltani S, Motlagh SZ, Emadi A, Shahinfar H, Moosavi H, et al. Anthropometric and adiposity indicators and risk of type 2 diabetes: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Bmj. 2022;376:e067516.
- 89. Ahmadi-Abhari S, Luben RN, Powell N, Bhaniani A, Chowdhury R, Wareham NJ, et al. Dietary intake of carbohydrates and risk of type 2 diabetes: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Norfolk study. Br J Nutr. 2014;111(2):342-52.
- 90. Sluijs I, Beulens JW, van der Schouw YT, van der AD, Buckland G, Kuijsten A, et al. Dietary glycemic index, glycemic load, and digestible carbohydrate intake are not associated with risk of type 2 diabetes in eight European countries. J Nutr. 2013;143(1):93-9.
- 91. Janket SJ, Manson JE, Sesso H, Buring JE, Liu S. A prospective study of sugar intake and risk of type 2 diabetes in women. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(4):1008-15.

- 92. VanderWeele TJ. Mediation Analysis: A Practitioner's Guide. Annu Rev Public Health. 2016;37:17-32.
- 93. Tönnies T, Schlesinger S, Lang A, Kuss O. Mediation Analysis in Medical Research. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2023;120(41):681-7.
- 94. VanderWeele TJ. A three-way decomposition of a total effect into direct, indirect, and interactive effects. Epidemiology. 2013;24(2):224-32.
- 95. Buyken AE, Mela DJ, Dussort P, Johnson IT, Macdonald IA, Stowell JD, et al. Dietary carbohydrates: a review of international recommendations and the methods used to derive them. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018;72(12):1625-43.
- 96. Ibsen DB, Laursen ASD, Würtz AML, Dahm CC, Rimm EB, Parner ET, et al. Food substitution models for nutritional epidemiology. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;113(2):294-303.
- 97. Song M, Giovannucci E. Substitution analysis in nutritional epidemiology: proceed with caution. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(2):137-40.
- 98. Lang A, Kuss O, Filla T, Schlesinger S. Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis. Eur J Nutr. 2021;60(4):2121-9.
- 99. Lang A, Kuss O, Filla T, Kuhnle G, Schlesinger S. The mediating role of obesity on the prospective association between urinary sucrose and diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk. Nutr Diabetes. 2023;13(1):14.
- 100. Pan A, Hu FB. Effects of carbohydrates on satiety: differences between liquid and solid food. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2011;14(4):385-90.
- 101. DiMeglio DP, Mattes RD. Liquid versus solid carbohydrate: effects on food intake and body weight. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24(6):794-800.
- 102. Willis HJ, Thomas W, Willis DJ, Slavin JL. Feasibility of measuring gastric emptying time, with a wireless motility device, after subjects consume fiber-matched liquid and solid breakfasts. Appetite. 2011;57(1):38-44.
- 103. Zhang R, Noronha JC, Khan TA, McGlynn N, Back S, Grant SM, et al. The Effect of Non-Nutritive Sweetened Beverages on Postprandial Glycemic and Endocrine Responses: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2023;15(4).
- 104. DiNicolantonio JJ, O'Keefe JH, Wilson WL. Sugar addiction: is it real? A narrative review. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(14):910-3.
- 105. Keast RS, Swinburn BA, Sayompark D, Whitelock S, Riddell LJ. Caffeine increases sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in a free-living population: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Nutr. 2015;113(2):366-71.
- 106. Kenney EL, Gortmaker SL. United States Adolescents' Television, Computer, Videogame, Smartphone, and Tablet Use: Associations with Sugary Drinks, Sleep, Physical Activity, and Obesity. J Pediatr. 2017;182:144-9.
- 107. Collison KS, Zaidi MZ, Subhani SN, Al-Rubeaan K, Shoukri M, Al-Mohanna FA. Sugarsweetened carbonated beverage consumption correlates with BMI, waist circumference, and poor dietary choices in school children. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:234.
- 108. Malik VS, Hu FB. The role of sugar-sweetened beverages in the global epidemics of obesity and chronic diseases. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2022;18(4):205-18.
- 109. Basu S, Yoffe P, Hills N, Lustig RH. The relationship of sugar to population-level diabetes prevalence: an econometric analysis of repeated cross-sectional data. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e57873.
- 110. Weeratunga P, Jayasinghe S, Perera Y, Jayasena G, Jayasinghe S. Per capita sugar consumption and prevalence of diabetes mellitus--global and regional associations. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:186.
- 111. Food Agriculture Organization. FAOSTAT, Data Archives, Food Balance Sheets. 2013. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data</u>. Accessed 16 Jan 2020.
- 112. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas. 2017. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.diabetesatlas.org/en/resources/</u>. Accessed 16 Jan 2020.
- 113. Tasevska N, Pettinger M, Kipnis V, Midthune D, Tinker LF, Potischman N, et al. Associations of Biomarker-Calibrated Intake of Total Sugars With the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(10):2126-35.

- 114. Campbell R, Tasevska N, Jackson KG, Sagi-Kiss V, di Paolo N, Mindell JS, et al. Association between urinary biomarkers of total sugars intake and measures of obesity in a cross-sectional study. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0179508.
- 115. Davy B, Jahren H. New markers of dietary added sugar intake. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2016;19(4):282-8.
- 116. Fakhouri TH, Jahren AH, Appel LJ, Chen L, Alavi R, Anderson CA. Serum carbon isotope values change in adults in response to changes in sugar-sweetened beverage intake. J Nutr. 2014;144(6):902-5.
- 117. Hedrick VE, Davy BM, Wilburn GA, Jahren AH, Zoellner JM. Evaluation of a novel biomarker of added sugar intake (δ 13C) compared with self-reported added sugar intake and the Healthy Eating Index-2010 in a community-based, rural U.S. sample. Public Health Nutr. 2016;19(3):429-36.
- 118. Hedrick VE, Zoellner JM, Jahren AH, Woodford NA, Bostic JN, Davy BM. A Dual-Carbon-and-Nitrogen Stable Isotope Ratio Model Is Not Superior to a Single-Carbon Stable Isotope Ratio Model for Predicting Added Sugar Intake in Southwest Virginian Adults. J Nutr. 2015;145(6):1362-9.
- 119. Nash SH, Kristal AR, Hopkins SE, Boyer BB, O'Brien DM. Stable isotope models of sugar intake using hair, red blood cells, and plasma, but not fasting plasma glucose, predict sugar intake in a Yup'ik study population. J Nutr. 2014;144(1):75-80.
- 120. Nash SH, Kristal AR, Bersamin A, Choy K, Hopkins SE, Stanhope KL, et al. Isotopic estimates of sugar intake are related to chronic disease risk factors but not obesity in an Alaska native (Yup'ik) study population. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2014;68(1):91-6.
- 121. Henze MM, Bemis EA, Seifert JA, Johnson RK, Dong F, Rewers M, et al. Association between change in self-reported sugar intake and a sugar biomarker (δ(13)C) in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. J Nutr Sci. 2020;9:e16.
- 122. MacDougall CR, Hill CE, Jahren AH, Savla J, Riebl SK, Hedrick VE, et al. The δ13C Value of Fingerstick Blood Is a Valid, Reliable, and Sensitive Biomarker of Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Intake in Children and Adolescents. J Nutr. 2018;148(1):147-52.
- 123. Patel PS, Cooper AJ, O'Connell TC, Kuhnle GG, Kneale CK, Mulligan AM, et al. Serum carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes as potential biomarkers of dietary intake and their relation with incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-Norfolk study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;100(2):708-18.
- 124. Lustig RH, Schmidt LA, Brindis CD. Public health: The toxic truth about sugar. Nature. 2012;482(7383):27-9.
- 125. Barclay AW, Flood VM, Rochtchina E, Mitchell P, Brand-Miller JC. Glycemic index, dietary fiber, and risk of type 2 diabetes in a cohort of older Australians. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(11):2811-3.
- 126. Hodge AM, English DR, O'Dea K, Giles GG. Glycemic index and dietary fiber and the risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(11):2701-6.
- 127. Liu Y, Cheng J, Wan L, Chen W. Associations between Total and Added Sugar Intake and Diabetes among Chinese Adults: The Role of Body Mass Index. Nutrients. 2023;15(14).
- 128. Valente MJ, Pelham WE, Smyth H, MacKinnon DP. Confounding in statistical mediation analysis: What it is and how to address it. J Couns Psychol. 2017;64(6):659-71.
- 129. DiNicolantonio JJ, O'Keefe JH. Added Sugars Drive Insulin Resistance, Hyperinsulinemia, Hypertension, Type 2 Diabetes and Coronary Heart Disease. Mo Med. 2022;119(6):519-23.
- 130. DiNicolantonio JJ, JH OK. Added sugars drive coronary heart disease via insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia: a new paradigm. Open Heart. 2017;4(2):e000729.
- 131. Roden M, Shulman GI. The integrative biology of type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2019;576(7785):51-60.
- 132. Veit M, van Asten R, Olie A, Prinz P. The role of dietary sugars, overweight, and obesity in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a narrative review. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2022;76(11):1497-501.
- 133. Sun SZ, Empie MW. Fructose metabolism in humans what isotopic tracer studies tell us. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2012;9(1):89.
- 134. Geidl-Flueck B, Gerber PA. Fructose drives de novo lipogenesis affecting metabolic health. J Endocrinol. 2023;257(2).

- 135. Stanhope KL, Havel PJ. Fructose consumption: potential mechanisms for its effects to increase visceral adiposity and induce dyslipidemia and insulin resistance. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2008;19(1):16-24.
- 136. Targher G, Corey KE, Byrne CD, Roden M. The complex link between NAFLD and type 2 diabetes mellitus mechanisms and treatments. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;18(9):599-612.
- 137. Jamnik J, Rehman S, Blanco Mejia S, de Souza RJ, Khan TA, Leiter LA, et al. Fructose intake and risk of gout and hyperuricemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. BMJ Open. 2016;6(10):e013191.
- 138. Choi HK, Willett W, Curhan G. Fructose-rich beverages and risk of gout in women. Jama. 2010;304(20):2270-8.
- 139. Choi HK, Curhan G. Soft drinks, fructose consumption, and the risk of gout in men: prospective cohort study. Bmj. 2008;336(7639):309-12.
- 140. Olszewski PK, Wood EL, Klockars A, Levine AS. Excessive Consumption of Sugar: an Insatiable Drive for Reward. Curr Nutr Rep. 2019;8(2):120-8.
- 141. Meisinger C, Rospleszcz S, Wintermeyer E, Lorbeer R, Thorand B, Bamberg F, et al. Isocaloric Substitution of Dietary Carbohydrate Intake with Fat Intake and MRI-Determined Total Volumes of Visceral, Subcutaneous and Hepatic Fat Content in Middle-Aged Adults. Nutrients. 2019;11(5).
- 142. Mousavi SM, Jalilpiran Y, Karimi E, Aune D, Larijani B, Mozaffarian D, et al. Dietary Intake of Linoleic Acid, Its Concentrations, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(9):2173-81.
- 143. Wu JH, Micha R, Imamura F, Pan A, Biggs ML, Ajaz O, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Nutr. 2012;107 Suppl 2(0 2):S214-27.
- 144. Fretts AM, Imamura F, Marklund M, Micha R, Wu JHY, Murphy RA, et al. Associations of circulating very-long-chain saturated fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes: a pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2019;109(4):1216-23.
- 145. Lemaitre RN, King IB. Very long-chain saturated fatty acids and diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2022;33(1):76-82.
- 146. Khaw KT, Friesen MD, Riboli E, Luben R, Wareham N. Plasma phospholipid fatty acid concentration and incident coronary heart disease in men and women: the EPIC-Norfolk prospective study. PLoS Med. 2012;9(7):e1001255.
- 147. Hertzler SR, Lieblein-Boff JC, Weiler M, Allgeier C. Plant Proteins: Assessing Their Nutritional Quality and Effects on Health and Physical Function. Nutrients. 2020;12(12).
- 148. Jenkins DJA, Kendall CWC, Lamarche B, Banach MS, Srichaikul K, Vidgen E, et al. Nuts as a replacement for carbohydrates in the diabetic diet: a reanalysis of a randomised controlled trial. Diabetologia. 2018;61(8):1734-47.
- 149. Piers LS, Walker KZ, Stoney RM, Soares MJ, O'Dea K. Substitution of saturated with monounsaturated fat in a 4-week diet affects body weight and composition of overweight and obese men. Br J Nutr. 2003;90(3):717-27.
- 150. Fernainy P, Cohen AA, Murray E, Losina E, Lamontagne F, Sourial N. Rethinking the pros and cons of randomized controlled trials and observational studies in the era of big data and advanced methods: a panel discussion. BMC Proc. 2024;18(Suppl 2):1.
- 151. Faraoni D, Schaefer ST. Randomized controlled trials vs. observational studies: why not just live together? BMC Anesthesiol. 2016;16(1):102.
- 152. Ibsen DB, Steur M, Imamura F, Overvad K, Schulze MB, Bendinelli B, et al. Replacement of Red and Processed Meat With Other Food Sources of Protein and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in European Populations: The EPIC-InterAct Study. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(11):2660-7.
- 153. Ho FK, Gray SR, Welsh P, Petermann-Rocha F, Foster H, Waddell H, et al. Associations of fat and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality: prospective cohort study of UK Biobank participants. Bmj. 2020;368:m688.
- 154. Dehghan M, Mente A, Zhang X, Swaminathan S, Li W, Mohan V, et al. Associations of fats and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 18 countries

from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2017;390(10107):2050-62.

- 155. Campmans-Kuijpers MJ, Sluijs I, Nöthlings U, Freisling H, Overvad K, Weiderpass E, et al. Isocaloric substitution of carbohydrates with protein: the association with weight change and mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2015;14:39.
- 156. Campmans-Kuijpers MJ, Sluijs I, Nöthlings U, Freisling H, Overvad K, Boeing H, et al. The association of substituting carbohydrates with total fat and different types of fatty acids with mortality and weight change among diabetes patients. Clin Nutr. 2016;35(5):1096-102.
- 157. Baechle C, Lang A, Strassburger K, Kuss O, Burkart V, Szendroedi J, et al. Association of a lifestyle score with cardiometabolic markers among individuals with diabetes: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2023;11(4).
- 158. Khaw KT, Wareham N, Bingham S, Welch A, Luben R, Day N. Combined impact of health behaviours and mortality in men and women: the EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. PLoS Med. 2008;5(1):e12.
- 159. Szendroedi J, Saxena A, Weber KS, Strassburger K, Herder C, Burkart V, et al. Cohort profile: the German Diabetes Study (GDS). Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15:59.



Appendix

Online supplemental material – Project 1

Association between per capita sugar consumption and diabetes prevalence mediated by the body mass index: results of a global mediation analysis

Alexander Lang¹, Oliver Kuss^{1,3}, Tim Filla², Sabrina Schlesinger^{1,3}

- ¹ Institute for Biometrics and Epidemiology, German Diabetes Center, Leibniz Institute for Diabetes Research at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Auf'm Hennekamp 65, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany
- Institute for Biometrics and Bioinformatics, University Hospital Düsseldorf, Research at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Moorenstraße 5, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany
- ³ German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD e.V.), München-Neuherberg, Germany



Online supplemental material - Project 2

The mediating role of BMI on the prospective association between dietary and urinary sucrose with diabetes incidence in a sub-cohort of the EPIC-Norfolk

Alexander Lang¹, Oliver Kuss^{1,2,3}, Tim Filla⁴, Gunter Kuhnle⁵, Sabrina Schlesinger^{1,3}

- ¹ Institute for Biometrics and Epidemiology, German Diabetes Center, Leibniz Institute for Diabetes Research at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Auf'm Hennekamp 65, D-40225 Düsseldorf, Germany
- ² Centre for Health and Society, Medical Faculty and University Hospital Düsseldorf, Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Germany Institute for Biometrics and Bioinformatics, University Hospital
- ³ German Center for Diabetes Research, Partner Düsseldorf, München-Neuherberg, Germany
- ⁴ Department of Rheumatology, Medical Faculty, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany
- ⁵ Department of Food & Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6DZ, United Kingd



Online supplemental material – Project 3

Cross-sectional association between the isocaloric replacement of carbohydrates with protein and fat in relation to fat compartments distribution and hepatic lipid content in recent-onset type 1 and type 2 diabetes

Alexander Lang¹, Edyta Schaefer^{1,2}, Yuliya Kupriyanova^{2,3}, Janina Goletzke⁴, Katharina S. Weber⁵, Anette E. Buyken⁴, Sabine Kahl³, Oana-Patricia Zaharia^{2,3,6}, Christian Herder^{2,3,6}, Vera B. Schrauwen-Hinderling^{2,3}, Oliver Kuss^{1,2,7}, Robert Wagner^{2,3,6}, Michael Roden^{6,3,2}, Sabrina Schlesinger^{1,2}, GDS Group

1 Institute for Biometrics and Epidemiology, German Diabetes Center, Leibniz Center for Diabetes Research at Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany

2 German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), Partner Düsseldorf, München-Neuherberg, Germany

3 Institute for Clinical Diabetology, German Diabetes Center, Leibniz Center for Diabetes Research at Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany

4 Department of Sports and Health, Institute of Nutrition, Consumption and Health, Paderborn University,

Paderborn, Germany

5 Institute of Epidemiology, Kiel University, Kiel, Germany

6 Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology, Medical Faculty and University Hospital Düsseldorf, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

7 Centre for Health and Society, Faculty of Medicine, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany



Danksagung

Allem voran möchte ich mich ganz besonders bei PD Dr. Sabrina Schlesinger bedanken. Zum einen für die Konzeption der vorliegenden (und vieler weiterer) Projekte, zum anderen aber vor allem dafür, dass ich Dich als Mentorin für meine Masterarbeit und Dissertation haben durfte. In den vergangenen Jahren hattest Du jederzeit ein offenes Ohr für Fragen und Probleme, egal ob arbeitsbezogen oder abseits der Wissenschaft. Durch Deine herzliche, unkomplizierte und gleichzeitig konstruktive Betreuung konnte ich in den letzten Jahren viel lernen und einen tiefen Einblick in die Welt der Ernährungsepidemiologie gewinnen. Besonders bedanken möchte ich mich auch für das Vertrauen und die Geduld, die Du mir in all der Zeit entgegengebracht hast – ich weiß nicht, ob ich das mit einer anderen Betreuung geschafft hätte.

Des Weiteren möchte ich mich bei Prof. Dr. Oliver Kuß dafür bedanken, dass ich nach meiner Anstellung als studentische Hilfskraft bei der NaKo die Möglichkeit erhalten habe, meine wissenschaftliche Karriere im lehrreichen und angenehmen Umfeld des Instituts für Biometrie und Epidemiologie des Deutschen Diabetes-Zentrums zu vertiefen. Außerdem möchte ich Prof. Dr. Claudia Pischke für die Übernahme der Zweitbetreuung sowie für die Möglichkeit der Mitarbeit an dem spannenden Projekt "10.000 Schritte Düsseldorf" danken.

Darüber hinaus möchte ich mich bei meinen beiden Kolleginnen Edyta Schaefer und Janett Barbaresko bedanken. Einerseits für den fachlichen Austausch und die gemeinsame Zusammenarbeit an dem einen oder anderen Projekt. Andererseits aber vor allem auch für die gemeinsamen Gespräche und die Zeit, die wir auf diversen Konferenzen oder bei dem einen oder anderen Gläschen Wein miteinander verbracht haben. Ihr beide seid jeweils eine große Motivation gewesen, selbst während pandemischer Zeiten ins Büro zu kommen und diese Arbeit durchzuziehen.

Ganz herzlich möchte ich mich auch bei meinen Eltern Martin und Sieglinde Lang bedanken, ohne die das alles nicht möglich gewesen wäre. Ihr habt mich auf meinem privaten und beruflichen Weg immer nach Kräften unterstützt, mir aber auch die nötigen Freiräume gelassen. Es ist ein Privileg zu wissen, einen solchen Sicherheitsschirm zu haben, der einen auffängt, wenn es darauf ankommt.

Zu guter Letzt möchte ich mich bei all meinen Freund:innen bedanken, die in den letzten Jahren immer für mich da waren, mich in stressigen Phasen abzulenken wussten, oder auch ab und zu meinen Frust aushalten mussten. Stellvertretend möchte ich vor allem Elena Schmitz und Janin Thiermann danken, die nicht nur fantastische Mitbewohnerinnen sind/waren, sondern mir auch jederzeit mit Rat und Tat zur Seite standen und ein Händchen dafür haben, mich auf andere Gedanken zu bringen.